Mediating and Moderating Factors in the Pathway from Child Maltreatment to Interpersonal Conflict Management in Young Adulthood

A dissertation presented to

the faculty of

the College of Arts and Sciences of Ohio University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Andra Raisa Ray

August 2018

© 2018. Andra R. Ray. All Rights Reserved.

This dissertation titled

Mediating and Moderating Factors in the Pathway from Child Maltreatment to

Interpersonal Conflict Management in Young Adulthood

by

ANDRA RAISA RAY

has been approved for

the Department of Psychology

and the College of Arts and Sciences by

Steven W. Evans

Professor of Psychology

Robert Frank

Dean, College of Arts and Sciences

Abstract

RAY, ANDRA R., Ph.D., August 2018, Psychology

Mediating and Moderating Factors in the Pathway from Child Maltreatment to

Interpersonal Conflict Management in Young Adulthood

Director of Dissertation: Steven W. Evans

Child maltreatment has been found to increase the risk of psychopathology and maladaptive functioning such as relationship problems (e.g., Larsen, Sandberg, Harper, & Bean, 2011) across multiple developmental stages. Considering that not all individuals with histories of maltreatment develop negative outcomes (e.g., Howell & Miller-Graff, 2014), understanding the process by which factors beyond the experience of maltreatment contribute to the development of social difficulties in young adulthood can be critical for the design of prevention and intervention efforts. Social-cognitive theories point to mechanisms such as rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation as potential sources of interpersonal vulnerability. Furthermore, theories of normative development indicate that the timing of child maltreatment may determine the magnitude of deleterious effects. This study was an investigation of the developmental psychopathological pathway between child maltreatment and interpersonal conflict management in young adulthood. The mediating roles of both rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation were considered, with findings primarily supporting the former mediation. Additionally, the moderating role of age of onset of child maltreatment was examined within the context of the aforementioned mediation models. None of the moderated mediation hypotheses were confirmed. Research and clinical implications, as well as future directions are discussed.

Dedication

To my parents, who taught me that education is the most valuable investment and who raised me in the spirit of perseverance toward the most ambitious goals. To my grandmother, who inspired me to always greet the world with a smile and who entrusted me in carying forward our family's legacy. To my husband, who has never waivered in his unconditional support for my pursuit of my career dreams.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my utmost gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Steven W. Evans, who has afforded me the pleasure of countless intellectually stimulating conversations and whose mentorship over the years has been instrumental in my professional development. Many thanks to Dr. Nicholas P. Allan for his statistics consultation on this project. Thank you to my dissertation committee members, Drs. Steven W. Evans, Christine A. Gidycz, Brian T. Wymbs, Nicholas P. Allan, and Thomas Vander Ven, for making the time to provide guidance during the dissertation process and for their constructive feedback.

Abstract
Dedication
Acknowledgements
List of Tables
Chapter 1: Theoretical Background
Child Maltreatment and Social Impairment10
From Child Maltreatment to Maladaptive Social Behaviors: Mediating
Mechanisms 14
Child Maltreatment in a Developmental Psychopathology Context: Moderating
Mechanism19
Applying the Transdiagnostic Model to Child Maltreatment
Current Study
Chapter 2: Method
Participants
Procedures
Measures
Chapter 3: Results
Preliminary Analytic Steps
Mediation Analyses
Moderated Mediation Analyses 50
Chapter 4: Discussion
Key Findings

Table of Contents

Limitations	58
Future Directions	50
Conclusions	51
References	53
Appendix A: Recruitment Flyer	30
Appendix B: Psych Pool Description of the Study	31
Appendix C: Consent Form 8	32
Appendix D: Debriefing Form	35
Appendix E: Demographics Questionnaire 8	37
Appendix F: Inventory of Depression and Anxiety Symptoms9) 0
Appendix G: The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test9) 2
Appendix H: Childhood Trauma Questionnaire9) 3
Appendix I: Rejection Sensitivity Questionnaire9) 4
Appendix J: Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale) 7
Appendix K: Interpersonal Competence Questionnaire) 9

List of Tables

Table 1: General Psychopathology Characteristics 27
Table 2: Descriptive Statistics
Table 3: Pearson Correlations Among Study Variables 39
Table 4: Trauma Characteristics 40
Table 5: Results of Mediation Analyses for Solitary Models with Rejection Sensitivitity
Table 6: Results of Mediation Analyses for Solitary Models with Emotion Dysregulation
Table 7: Results of Dual Mediation Analyses with Rejection Sensitivity and Emotion
Dysregulation
Table 8: Moderation Effects of Trauma Onset in Solitary Mediation Models with
Rejection Sensitivity
Table 9: Moderation Effects of Trama Onset in Solitary Mediation Models with Emotion
Dysregulation

Chapter 1: Theoretical Background

Child maltreatment is a serious public health concern with important consequences for the lives of children and their functioning as young adults. In the United States, it is estimated that 25% of children experience some form of child maltreatment in their lifetime (Finkelhor, Turner, Ormond, & Hamby, 2013) with 3.4 million reports to Child Protective Services per year and an annual death toll of 2.2 fatalities per 100,000 children (United States Department of Health and Human Services - U.S. DHHS, 2012). Beyond the concurrent impairment resulting from child maltreatment, individuals with such histories have an inherent risk for interpersonal problems during young adulthood (Wolfe, Wekerle, Reitzel-Jaffe, & Lefebvre, 1998).

Young adults are at an age of particular vulnerability to social impairment because this is a developmental period when dyadic relationships set the foundation for the developmental course of long-term romantic partnerships. The interactional patterns learned and practiced throughout childhood provide the scaffolding for the way in which young adults maintain relationships and resolve interpersonal conflicts (e.g., Cicchetti & Howes, 1991). Although child maltreatment is a risk factor for later social difficulties (e.g., low quality of adult romantic relationships; Larsen, Sandberg, Harper, & Bean, 2011), maltreatment experiences are not associated with negative outcomes in all cases, as a large body of research documents instances in which resilience prevails (e.g., Collishaw, Pickles, Messer, Rutter, Shearer, & Maughan, 2007; Howell & Miller-Graff, 2014).

A transdiagnostic model proposed by Nolen-Hoeksema and Watkins (2011) explains instances of multifinality by highlighting that mediating and moderating factors

9

are responsible for deleterious pathways from childhood adversity to adult impairment. Cognitive-affective theories, as well as empirical research indicate that variables such as rejection sensitivity, emotion regulation and timing of maltreatment may play a role in the development of distal social impairment. Understanding the mechanisms by which child maltreatment presents as vulnerability to negative outcomes in young adulthood is crucial for guiding both prevention and intervention efforts pertaining to social difficulties.

Child Maltreatment and Social Impairment

Child maltreatment is defined as "any act or series of acts of commission or omission by a parent or other caregiver that results in harm, potential for harm, or threat of harm to a child" (Leeb, Paulozzi, Melanson, Simon, & Arias, 2008, p. 11). Acts of commission encompass physical, psychological, and sexual abuse, whereas acts of omission refer to neglect, as well as a failure to provide adequate supervision or to protect from violent environments. A report (U.S. DHHS, 2018) based on information available in the National Data Archive on Child Abuse and Neglect (NDACAN) indicates that most perpetrators of child abuse from 2016 had some parenting or caregiving capacity (77.6% parents; 3.6% unmarried partner of the parent; 0.3% foster parents; 0.3% legal guardians), 6.2% were another relative, and 4.1% of perpetrators had multiple relationship roles (e.g., both aunt and legal guardian of the child). Although child maltreatment may occur in the context of relationships outside the family, these instances encompass only 5.5% of child maltreatment reports (U.S. DHHS, 2018) with pepetrators belonging to categories such a friend or neighbor (1%), a daycare provider (0.3%), or another important individual (e.g., foster sibling, nonrelative, household staff, clergy,

individual serving in a professional capacity; 4.2%). Given that most child maltreatment acts are performed by a parent or a caregiver, child maltreatment is perhaps best understood as a "relational psychopathology" occurrence that emerges from a dysfunctional parent/caregiver-child-environment system (Cicchetti & Olsen, 1990). Specifically, the maltreated child learns to view the world through the lens of his/her experience with the perpetrator and/or the exposure to an environment that fosters violence and conflict.

Both social learning theory (Bandura, 1977) and biological predispositions create the premise for child victimization to elicit a risk for subsequent interpersonal dysfunction. Families in which child maltreatment occurs establish a setting in which strategies such as violence and intimidation are modeled as effective pathways to maintaining relationships and resolving conflicts (Cicchetti & Howes, 1991). Consistent with social learning theory, children assimilate these negative behaviors and apply them in their relationships with peers. For example, in a laboratory setting, 9- to 14-year old children with histories of child maltreatment displayed more interpersonal conflict and disagreement with their friends than their peers without a history of abuse (Parker & Herrera, 1996). Similarly, school-aged children who witnessed marital violence and/or who were subjected to severe maternal punishment reported conflictual relationships with their best friends (McCloskey & Stuewig, 2001). Child maltreatment is also viewed as an avenue toward interpersonal vulnerability, which translates into maladaptive interactions and/or violent relationships (e.g., Widom, Czaja, & DuMont, 2015). For example, children from families ridden with conflictual interactions may also have a genetic predisposition toward a difficult temperament style and associated social impairment.

Overall, both parent modeling and biological predispositions may be viewed as risk factors for the development of social difficulties in individuals with histories of child maltreatment.

Results from empirical studies and meta-analyses indicate a link between all types of child maltreatment and negative outcomes. For example, all types of maltreatment (i.e., neglect, physical, psychological, and sexual abuse) measured with the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (Bernstein & Fink, 1998) yielded moderate correlations with trauma-related symptoms such as anxious arousal, depression, sexual disturbance, dissociation, and anger in a prospective study with adolescents and young adults (van Vugt, Lanctôt, Paquette, Collin-Vézina, & Lemieux, 2014). In relation to social functioning, young adult relationship disturbances such as walking out on a partner, being unfaithful, and getting a divorce were also associated with different types of child maltreatment such as physical abuse and neglect (Colman & Widom, 2004). Furthermore, in a meta-analysis of studies investigating the consequences of child maltreatment, researchers found robust evidence for outcomes such as internalizing disorders, suicide attempts, substance use, and risky sexual behaviors being associated with each of the following types of maltreatment: physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect (Norman et al., 2012). This diverse set of outcomes emerging from exposure to similar risk (i.e., child maltreatment) supports the framework of a transdiagnostic model that can be used to better understand the various deleterious pathways to multifinality. What is more, the relationship between child maltreatment and negative social outcomes follows a developmental conduit which manifests as individuals relying on the use of aversive social strategies in a variety of social contexts, from peer to romantic relationships.

Beginning in adolescence, romantic relationships of maltreated youth may present a variety of interpersonal challenges. Compared to their peers with no maltreatment experience, 15-year old adolescents exposed to maltreatment before the age of 12 reported higher levels of hostility, interpersonal sensitivity, and coercive communication with a dating partner, as well as problems with closeness and trust in intimate relationships (Wolfe, Wekerle, Reitzel-Jaffe, & Lefebvre, 1998). Importantly, these problems manifested as victimization and perpetration in the same individual, indicating that child maltreatment entails a risk for being on both the receiving and the delivery end of abuse in relationships. Furthermore, the interpersonal challenges from adolescence may escalate in severity and have repercussions in young adulthood. Child maltreatment predicts distal outcomes such as instability and dissolution of relationships, as evidenced by high rates of infidelity, separation, and divorce (Colman & Widom, 2004) and has been linked with precursors of these terminal relationship outcomes. For example, young adult correlates of child maltreatment entail low dyadic adjustment in adult relationships (Godbout, Sabourin, & Lussier, 2006), marital dissatisfaction (Perry, DiLillo, & Peugh, 2007), and fear of intimacy (Repic, 2007). Additionally, childhood experiences of psychological maltreatment are related to intimate partner violence perpetration and victimization in young adult relationships (Crawford & Wright, 2007; Zurbriggen, Gobin, & Freyd, 2010). Although, as described above, interpersonal difficulties may appear as coercive communication, hostile interactions, and violent behavior, a common denominator across these experiences pertains to the management of interpersonal conflict. Indeed, conflict management is important for the success of romantic relationships, as evidenced by the consistent inclusion of conflict resolution strategies in

multiple treatment approaches (e.g., cognitive behavioral, Gottman method, solution focused, and affective-reconstructive) for couples therapy (see Gurman, 2008 for details). Conflict management in interpersonal relationships could serve as a proxy for adaptive social functioning and the potential for the formation and maintenance of stable romantic relationships. Despite established connections between child maltreatment and interpersonal conflict management difficulties in young adulthood, an empirical question that remains unanswered pertains to the mechanism by which such a link exists.

From Child Maltreatment to Maladaptive Social Behaviors: Mediating Mechanisms

An explanation proposed by social-cognitive theorists regarding the appearance of deleterious outcomes in the aftermath of negative life events is the emergence of cognitive distortions or biases. For example, in response to adversity, a person may construct negative appraisals about the self as being vulnerable to victimization, others being insincere and unreliable, and the world being an unsafe place (Ehlers & Clark, 2000). Child maltreatment, in particular, is viewed as contributory to the development of similar negative cognitions, which emerge from a need of the child to both understand the causes of and develop strategies to prevent maltreatment from reoccurring (Gibb, 2002). A specific mechanism believed to be involved in the formation of cognitive distortions is rejection sensitivity.

Downey and Feldman (1996) explained that rejection sensitivity is acquired when children are faced with negative responses (e.g., rejection, maltreatment) from key individuals in their life (e.g., parents), which makes them become hypervigilant to any signs of threat, no matter how small or ambiguous these may be. Indeed, Erozkan (2015) found that retrospective reports of physical abuse, emotional abuse, sexual abuse, physical neglect, and emotional neglect assessed via the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (Bernstein & Fink, 1998) yielded medium correlations with rejection sensitivity scores on the Rejection Sensitivity Questionnaire (Downey & Feldman, 1996).

Conceptually, it could be argued that rejection sensitivity is similar to the construct of hostile attribution bias (HAB; Dodge, 1980), which involves a negative response to a neutral or ambiguous behavior of another person believed to have a hostile intent. Although both rejection sensitivity and hostile attribution bias are precursor cognitive mechanisms to maladaptive interpersonal behaviors such as aggression (e.g., Downey, Lebolt, Rincon, & Freitas, 1998; Crick & Dodge, 1994), the former may exist even in the absence of a confrontation with another person's behavior. This means that a rejection sensitive individual is not only prone to misinterpret social cues as negatively directed toward him/her (as is the case with HAB), but he/she also uses prior negative interpersonal experiences such as harsh discipline, exposure to family violence, emotional neglect, conditional love by a parent and others (e.g., Downey, Bonica, & Rincon, 1999; Feldman & Downey, 1994) as a basis for anticipatory anxiety related to the potential for threats from the environment. Pietrzak, Downey, and Ayduk (2005) refer to this as a "better safe than sorry" strategy, which is activated by a working defensive motivation system (DMS) that underlies efforts to gain acceptance and avoid rejection at all costs.

The DMS is believed to yield a flight or fight response in situations in which rejection is a possibility (e.g., asking someone to go on a date; negotiating individual needs in a couple), as well as in interpersonal contexts in which the individual experiences perceived rejection (e.g., romantic partner expressing disagreement). Within this context, rejection sensitivity may act as a force that drives maladaptive behaviors in social situations.

Behavioral manifestations of rejection sensitivity may present as either perpetration or victimization, both of which have the potential to compromise the individual's social functioning. With regard to perpetration, individuals high in rejection sensitivity are believed to respond to perceived threats of rejection with maladaptive strategies for managing interpersonal conflicts such as hostility, aggression, coercion, and violence directed toward real or potential romantic partners. For example, women with high rejection sensitivity were more likely than those with low rejection sensitivity to report conflictual and hostile interactions with a romantic partner the day after they recorded rejection expectations in their diary (Downey, Irwin, Ramsay, & Ayduk, 2004). Rejection sensitivity was also found to predict dating violence in intimacy-seeking college men (Downey, Feldman, & Ayduk, 2000), as well as predict physical aggression and nonphysical hostility (e.g., ignoring the partner, making mean comments, doing something to elicit jealousy) during romantic conflicts of adolescent girls (Purdie & Downey, 2000).

With regard to victimization, individuals high in rejection sensitivity may display a passive approach to interpersonal conflict management, characterized by withdrawal, avoidance, or submission. For example, in an effort to preserve their romantic relationships and minimize conflict, adolescent girls with high rejection sensitivity reported a willingness to engage in sexual intimacy despite not feeling ready for this, to tolerate emotional, physical, or sexual abuse from their romantic partner, or to engage in delinquent behavior (e.g., shoplifting, substance use, skipping school) at the suggestion of their boyfriends (e.g., Downey, Bonica, & Rincon, 1999; Purdie & Downey, 2000; Young & Furman, 2008). Moreover, in a daily-diary study of dating couples, individuals with high rejection sensitivity used self-silencing (i.e., actively avoiding confronting their partner about differences of opinion) and prioritized the needs of their partner over their own needs in order to prevent or minimize conflicts (Ayduk, May, Downey, & Higgins, 2003).

Whether in the form of perpetration or victimization, the common denominator across the aforementioned behavioral manifestations of rejection sensitivity is a maladaptive approach to managing interpersonal difficulties such as conflictual interactions with a romantic partner. Although it is unclear why some people become aggressors and others emerge as victims in response to threats of rejection, the aforementioned maladaptive behaviors often confirm their expectation of rejection (e.g., Downey, Freitas, Michaelis, & Khouri, 1998) and ultimately reinforce the vicious cycle of maltreatment – rejection sensitivity – impaired conflict management.

Rejection sensitivity is not the only mechanism that may explain deleterious outcomes in the aftermath of child maltreatment. Alternative views to social-cognitive theories point toward mechanisms such as emotion dysregulation as the likely mediator between child maltreatment and subsequent social impairment. As it pertains to adult populations, Gratz and Romer (2004) conceptualized emotion regulation difficulties as an umbrella term for deficits in the following domains: "(a) awareness and understanding of emotions; (b) acceptance of emotions; (c) the ability to engage in goal-directed behavior, and refrain from impulsive behavior, when experiencing negative emotions; and (d) access to emotion regulation strategies perceived as effective." Emotion dysregulation in children and adolescents has been largely viewed as an inability to appropriately modulate the physiological, experiential and behavioral expressions of emotion (Bunford, Evans, & Wymbs, 2015) and is believed to be a product of both environmental factors such as parenting practices and biological aspects such as the child's temperament (Morris, Silk, Steinberg, Myers, & Robinson, 2007).

Beyond genetic predispositions for irritability and impulsivity, emotion dysregulation is conceptualized within the framework of social learning theory. In a review of family context factors affecting emotion regulation, Morris and colleagues (2007) provided several reasons that support the directional relationship between child maltreatment and emotion dysregulation. They explained that parents who use punitive strategies in response to children's emotional expression contribute to an increased emotional arousal in their children and foster strategies such as avoidance of emotional displays or maladaptive expression of sadness or anger in their children. Children use their parents as a social referencing system such that they look to their parents' reactions and behaviors to infer cues about how they should respond, think or feel about emotionally charged situations. Moreover, emotion dysregulation is not only a product of parental modeling, but can also emerge as a result of emotion contagion or as a distress response to the family's negative emotional climate.

In a review of the literature pertaining to child maltreatment and social functioning, Repetti and colleagues (2002) discussed evidence from multiple studies indicating that children exposed to family conflict are more likely than typical children to respond to conflictual situations with heightened emotional distress and behaviors such as aggression or poor initiation of social interactions. Furthermore, research (e.g., Shipman et al., 2005; Shipman et al., 2007) shows that maltreating parents tend to invalidate children's emotional expression and provide limited support and scaffolding for the development of emotional awareness, distress tolerance and relevant coping strategies, hence facilitating emotion dysregulation in their children. In turn, emotion dysregulation is associated with both concurrent and subsequent internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in childhood (Kim & Cicchetti, 2010) and adolescence (Heleniak, Jenness, Vander Stroep, McCauley, & McLaughlin, 2016), as well as more distal outcomes such as romantic relationship violence (e.g., Berzenski & Yates, 2010). To this end, emotion dysregulation may be viewed as a potential mediator that bridges child maltreatment and young adult interpersonal difficulties.

As discussed above, theoretical underpinnings as well as empirical evidence provide support for the consideration of both rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation as possible explanatory mechanisms in the pathway from child maltreatment to poor conflict management. Considering the transdiagnostic model proposed by Nolen-Hoeksema and Watkins (2011), rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation may be viewed as components that have the potential to steer the direction of pathways towards distal negative outcomes. However, considering that this process occurs across multiple developmental stages from childhood into early adulthood, a key missing ingredient of this model may be the time when the maltreatment happened. **Child Maltreatment in a Developmental Psychopathology Context: Moderating Mechanism**

Developmental processes that take place across childhood and adolescence provide some hypotheses related to the vulnerability of youth for child maltreatment and subsequent outcomes, depending on the age at which such processes are experienced. As explained below, the way in which children may be impacted by maltreatment varies as a function of the developmental stage at which adversity occurs.

At a global level, early maltreatment is associated with a failure to meet some developmental milestones, which puts children at risk for later distress, psychopathology, and a snowballing effect of falling behind the normative curve of development (Cicchetti & Toth, 1995). One of the important areas of development from early childhood is attachment (Ainsworth, Blehar, Waters, & Wall, 1978). Considering that, by definition, child maltreatment is perpetrated by a parent/caregiver, maltreated children may become insecurely attached to their parents/caregivers (see Baer & Martinez, 2006 for a review). This creates the opportunity for the development of an impaired socio-emotional foundation emerging from the paradoxical situation in which the parent/caregiver is both the source of comfort and fear (van Ijzendoorn, Schuengel, & Bakermans-Kranenburg, 1999). Compared to older children or adolescents, behaviorally and physically, young children may have less potential to defend themselves. They might also have less developed coping strategies for handling maltreatment than their older peers (Carlson, Furby, Armstrong, & Schlaes, 1997).

Older children and adolescents may be able to mitigate the risks associated with child maltreatment given that they have had an opportunity to develop theory of mind (ToM; Wimmer & Perner, 1983). The acquisition of ToM entails the ability to explain and predict other people's thoughts and behaviors (Wellman & Liu, 2004), including those of the perpetrator of child maltreatment. This may allow youth to better control their environment by being able to make social inferences and potentially employ some safe-guards (e.g., stay out of the parent's way when he/she is angry). Furthermore, older children also have an increased opportunity to interact with a variety of adults who may provide social modeling that may challenge social information processing based only on the perpetrator's behavior. For example, individuals such as teachers or coaches may be in a position to show a child that he/she can be accepted and appreciated for who she/he is, even if this not the message communicated at home.

Despite some of the aforementioned protective factors inherent in later developmental stages, older youth exposed to maltreatment are also at risk for negative outcomes via a diverse range of internalized processes. For example, advanced cognitive capacities such as abstract thinking, metacognition, and self-reflection can facilitate the formation of cognitive schemas based on cognitive reinterpretations of the experience of maltreatment. The inherent need to form cause and effect connections, coupled with an increased cognitive capacity to encode, store and interpret information enable the formation of negative cognitions associated with maltreatment experiences (Gibb, 2002). As previously discussed, such distorted thought patterns are instrumental in the development of future maladaptive behaviors such as aggression (Purdie & Downey, 2000) or actively avoiding confrontation (Ayduk, May, Downey, & Higgins, 2003). Additionally, the propensity to generate personal fables, the view that what happens to adolescents is unique, exceptional and not shared by anyone else, may hyperbolize the experience of maltreatment as well as increase a sense of idiosyncratic vulnerability. For instance, adolescents may think that nobody else has been treated so badly, that no one can possibly understand their experience, and even that there might be something

intrinsically wrong with them, or that other people are out to get them (Alberts, Elkind, & Ginsberg, 2007; Hill & Lapsey, 2011).

Furthermore, as teenagers begin to negotiate autonomy-related changes (Steinberg, 2001) and reconcile differences in expectations and ideas about social conventions (Collins, 1990; Smetana, 1988), maladaptive parent-child interactions may increase. In fact, parent-child conflict reaches its peek in early adolescence (Lauren, Coy, & Collins, 1998). This creates a setting in which the child may not only be the victim of maltreatment, but may also put into practice some of the observed behaviors of the perpetrator (e.g., violence, verbal aggression), especially given that the youth may now be more physically apt to engage in such behaviors than at a younger age. As much as progress in cognitive, social, and physical development may contribute to the use of helpful coping skills and self-defense mechanisms (Holmbeck, Devine, Wasserman, Schellinger, & Tuminello, 2012), these advancements may also carry an inherent risk of internalizing victimization discourse and eliciting maladaptive behaviors. Overall, the developmental literature provides support to the idea that all youth, regardless of age, carry an inherent risk to negative outcomes as a result of maltreatment experiences.

Research pertaining to the timing of child maltreatment further emphasizes the propensity for negative consequences and indicates that age of onset plays a role in the direction of expected outcomes. For instance, Kaplow and Widom (2007) showed that an early onset of maltreatment (i.e., before age 5 years) predicted anxiety and depression symptoms in adulthood, whereas later onset (i.e., between ages 6 and 11 years) corresponded to behavioral problems in adulthood. These links between early child maltreatment and later internalizing problems (e.g., anxiety, depression, low self-esteem),

as well as between later child maltreatment and externalizing problems (e.g., conflictual interactions, delinquency, substance use) have been consistently found across studies (e.g., Keiley, Howe, Dodge, Bates, & Pettit, 2001; Manly, Kim, Rogosch, & Cicchetti, 2001; Thornberry, Ireland, & Smith, 2001), with small to medium effect sizes for these relationships across all age groups. The consideration of the aforementioned findings together with the intersection between typical development and child maltreatment, highlight that timing of maltreatment plays a role in skewing the direction of the possible pathways present in a transdiagnostic model characterized by multifinality. What remains unexplained, however, is the way in which timing dictates the strength of the relationship between child maltreatment and cognitive distortions (e.g., rejection sensitivity) or affective processes (e.g., emotion dysregulation) on one hand, and between these coping mechanisms and their maladaptive behavioral manifestations (e.g., poor interpersonal conflict management) on the other hand.

Applying the Transdiagnostic Model to Child Maltreatment

The totality of the literature reviewed above creates the premise for the application of the transdiagnostic model described by Nolen-Hoeksema and Watkins (2011) in explaining the way in which individuals exposed to child maltreatment may be at risk for distal negative social outcomes such as poor conflict management in young adulthood. In the authors' view, both genetic loadings and environmental components can be conceptualized as distal risk factors in the development of psychopathology or as threats to adaptive functioning. In the case of individuals with histories of child maltreatment, as discussed in previous sections, the intergenerational transmission of abuse hypothesis explains the biological predisposition for maladaptive social

interactions. Additionally, child maltreatment can also be viewed as an environmental factor that represents another risk for negative outcomes.

As delineated by Nolen-Hoeksema and Watkins' model, exposure to a risk factor does not translate into a single predetermined outcome, but instead creates a propensity for various paths to multifinality. The direction and outcome of these pathways is steered by additional variables that are interjected between the initial risk factor and the distal outcomes and serve the function of mediators or moderators.

As reviewed above, social-cognitive theories identify both rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation as potential mechanisms that may explain the relationship between child maltreatment and distal social difficulties. To this end, both of these variables can be conceptualized as potential mediating factors. Furthermore, the developmental literature discussed in the previous section highlights that the developmental stage at which child maltreatment occurs may qualitatively determine the propensity for internalizing versus externalizing challenges which may ultimately determine the distal outcome. Considering that rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation emerge within the context of typical developmental stages, the interaction of the mediating variables with the timing of maltreatment is a necessary component to be considered within the transdiagnostic model of child maltreatment. Therefore, age of onset of maltreatment may be conceptualized as a potential moderator of the proposed mediated relationships.

Current Study

The current study was intended to test the model proposed by Nolen-Hoeksema and Watkins (2011) as applied specifically to the relationship between child maltreatment and interpersonal conflict management in young adulthood. To this end, rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation served as mediators and timing of maltreatment acted as a moderator. This study advanced from a simple examination of the 'trauma and social outcome' association, to explaining conditional indirect effects involved in a developmental trajectory from child maltreatment to interpersonal conflict management. Specifically, the following research questions (RQs) were addressed:

RQ1: Do rejection sensitivity and/or emotion dysregulation mediate the relationship between child maltreatment and interpersonal conflict management in young adulthood?

RQ2: Does timing of child maltreatment moderate the mediated relationship between child maltreatment and interpersonal conflict management in young adulthood?

Chapter 2: Method

Participants

Participants in the final sample used in this study were 428 undergraduate college students (39.3% male, 60.7% female). To be included in the study, participants had to be of 18 to 24 years of age and identify as male or female. Data was excluded from analyses if (a) the participant did not complete all the core study measures (i.e., independent variables, mediators, dependent variable), (b) the time of survey completion was insufficient to read all items and respond based on personal experiences (i.e., less than 15 minutes), and (c) data from the participant was determined to be a multivariate outlier. The racial and ethnic identity of the participants was as follows: 5.6% Black or African American, 3% Asian, 87.9 % White or Caucasian, 3.5% Other Race, and 3% Hispanic. Most (65.4%) participants were college freshmen, 22% were sophomores, 7.9% were juniors, and 4.4% were seniors. General psychopathology characteristics were normally distributed in this sample (see Table 1).

IDAS scale	Ν	Min.	Max.	M	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis	Cronbach's α
General depression	427	31.68	90.09	50.63	12.22	0.95	0.41	.93
Dysthymia	427	34.85	89.21	51.00	11.86	0.86	0.12	.91
Suicidality	427	45.59	129.24	50.97	12.01	3.27	12.35	.86
Lassitude	427	33.53	80.04	50.34	9.22	0.73	0.23	.78
Insomnia	427	37.42	85.33	50.69	9.99	0.88	0.39	.80
Appetite loss	427	40.94	87.81	49.96	11.09	1.39	1.57	.93
Appetite gain	427	38.59	79.83	49.06	9.12	1.07	0.85	.76
Ill temper	427	39.94	96.76	49.35	10.12	1.62	2.97	.82
Wellbeing	426	34.51	73.84	53.31	7.21	-0.18	-0.39	.42
Social anxiety	427	39.44	90.46	51.79	12.03	1.04	0.38	.88
Panic	427	41.15	111.57	50.28	11.86	2.07	4.96	.88
Traumatic Intrusions	427	40.90	96.26	49.39	11.35	1.86	3.50	.83

General Psychopathology Characteristics

Table 1

Note: IDAS = Inventory of Depression and Anxiety Symptoms; N = sample size of participants who completed this measure;

Min. = minimum value; Max. = maximum value; M = mean; SD = standard deviation. Scores on the IDAS were standardized to t-

scores based on normative data for college students available in Watson et al., 2007. T-scores have a mean of 50 and a standard

deviation of 10.

Procedures

Participants were recruited through the Psychology Pool at Ohio University. Information about the study was posted on the university campus, via printed flyers (see Appendix A) and online (on a page accessed by students interested in earning class credit for participation in studies; see Appendix B). College students interested in participating accessed a link to the online consent form (see Appendix C) for this study. Those who consented to participate were redirected to a separate page on which they completed all measures associated with this study online, hence being able to preserve anonymity. Participants were also debriefed at the end of the study (see Appendix D). All measures were administered using the Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap; Harris et al., 2009) tools hosted at Ohio University. Participation in this study was compensated with course credit. All study procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board. **Measures**

wicasui es

Basic demographic information was collected via a brief demographics questionnaire (see Appendix E) designed for the purpose of this study.

The Inventory of Depression and Anxiety Symptoms (IDAS; Watson et al., 2007) is a 64-item self-report measure of symptoms of major depression and anxiety disorders (see Appendix F). The IDAS provides information about multiple facets of psychopathology, including: general depression, dysthymia, suicidality, lassitude, insomnia, appetite loss, appetite gain, ill temper, wellbeing, panic, social anxiety, and traumatic intrusions. Items are rated on a scale from 1 (*not at all*) to 5 (*extremely*). The measure was normed on undergraduate college students and showed good internal consistency and validity (Watson et al., 2007). Internal consistency values for this sample were acceptable to excellent, ranging from .76 to .93, with the exception of the wellbeing scale which yielded an unacceptable reliability value of .42 (see Table 1). Therefore, inferences about the psychopathology characteristics of the sample should be restricted to the IDAS scales with at least acceptable Cronbach's α values.

The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT; Saunders et al., 1993) is a 10-item screening tool intended to assess alcohol consumption, drinking behaviors, and alcohol-related problems (see Appendix G). Participants report the frequency of their drinking on a scale from 0 (*never*) to, 4 (*4 or more times a week*), the number of alcoholic drinks consumed on a typical drinking occasion on a scale from 0 (*1 or 2 drinks*) to 4 (*10 or more drinks*), how often they have experienced problems associated with their drinking on a scale from 0 (*never*) to 4 (*daily or almost daily*), and the impact of their drinking on others. The total score is computed as a sum of scores on all items, with high scores being indicative of greater problems with alcohol use. In comparison to other screeners for alcohol use problems, dependence, and problem drinking behaviors, the AUDIT has evidenced a high degree of accuracy and reliability (e.g., Reinert & Allen, 2007). The AUDIT was used as a control variable in all analyses. The internal consistency of the AUDIT in this study was .98.

The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ; Bernstein & Fink, 1998) is a 28item retrospective self-report measure of childhood abuse and neglect history (see Appendix H). Each item is rated on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (*never true*) to 4 (*very often true*), with some items being reverse-coded. High scores on this measure are indicative of high levels of reported abuse. The CTQ can yield a total score and subscale scores pertaining to the following factors: (1) physical abuse (e.g., I was punished with a

belt, a board, a cord, or some other hard object.), (2) emotional abuse (e.g., People in my family said hurtful or insulting things to me.), (3) emotional neglect (e.g., My family was a source of strength and support.), (4) sexual abuse (e.g., Someone tried to touch me in a sexual way or tried to make me touch them.), and (5) physical neglect (e.g., I had to wear dirty clothes.). Additionally, the Minimization/Denial validity scale composed of three out of the 28 items from the CTQ can provide information pertaining to underreporting of maltreatment. Internal consistency coefficients ranged from .79 to .94 for the CTQ subscales and reliability for the total scale was .95 (Bernstein et al., 1994). In the same study by Bernstein and colleagues (1994), test-retest reliability at a mean interval of 3.6 months was also high for the subscales (ICC=.80-.83) and for the total CTQ scale (ICC=.88). In a study with Canadian undergraduate students from an introductory psychology class (Paivio & Cramer, 2004), reliability coefficients ranged from .70 to .93 (internal consistency) and from .66 to .94 (8-10 week test-reliability). The CTQ has been validated across clinical and non-clinical populations of various ages, including undergraduate students (e.g., Dudeck et al., 2015; Paivio & Cramer, 2004). Studies consistently found support for a 5-factor structure of the CTQ, as well as an excellent model fit for an overall factor of child maltreatment. Additionally, evidence was found for construct validity when using therapist ratings of maltreatment (e.g., Bernstein, Ahluvalia, Pogge, & Handelsman, 1997; Bernstein et al., 2003) and moderate convergent validity with a standardized clinical interview administered four years prior to the completion of the CTQ (Spinhoven et al., 2014). For the present study, internal consistency coefficients for the CTQ subscales ranged from .29 to .80 (see Table 2) and the reliability for the total CTQ was .82. Subscale reliability was unacceptable for the

physical abuse and physical neglect subscales, making these variables inappropriate for use as independent variables in subsequent analyses. However, because the reliability for the total scale was good, this variable was retained for conducting the relevant analyses in this study, despite the poor reliability for the aforementioned subscales.

Measure N Mun. Max. Num. Max. Num. Max. Constraints Cronoach s.c. CTQ - emotional abuse 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.95 2.26 6.63 8.00 CTQ - physical abuse 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 .76 CTQ - sexual abuse 428 5.00 12.00 5.92 1.60 1.98 3.21 .76 CTQ - physical negleet 428 5.00 17.00 10.25 4.00 -0.38 -0.46 n/a emotional neglect 428 1.00 17.00 10.25 4.00 -0.38 -0.46 n/a physical abuse 134 1.00 17.00 1.80 2.67 -1.53 n/a physical neglect 428 1.00 17.00 1.80 2.67 -1.53 n/a physical neglect 428 1.00 17.00 1.80 2.67 0.14 n
N Mm. Max. M SD Skewness Kurosis Cronsacn s a tional abuse 428 5.00 12.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 80 ial abuse 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 .76 ial abuse 428 5.00 11.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.29 .29 score 428 5.00 17.00 10.25 4.00 -0.38 -0.46 n/a abuse 134 1.00 17.00 1.05 1.71 n/a al acce 201 1.00 17.00 1.05 1.71 n/a al neglect 428 1.00 17.00 1.05 1.71 n/a al score 18 4.00 17.00 1.59 2.18 n/a score 428 1.00 17.00 1.59 2.13 n/a score 428 1.28
N Min. Max. M<
M MIR. Max. M <
N MIII. Max. M $3D$ Skewness Kurrosts abuse 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 buse 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12 ise 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 neglect 428 5.00 21.00 7.32 3.35 1.85 3.21 eglect 428 5.00 17.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.39 se 201 1.00 17.00 10.25 4.00 -0.38 -0.46 se 201 1.00 17.00 10.61 4.42 0.17 -1.53 lect 438 1.00 17.00 1.80 2.67 3.96 16.43 et 428 1.00 17.00 1.37 1.68 6.04 43.12 et 428 1.28 29.44
N MIR. Max. M SE Skewness Kurtosis abuse 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 buse 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12 ise 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 neglect 428 5.00 13.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.39 eglect 428 25.00 69.00 30.82 6.99 1.98 5.18 se 201 1.00 17.00 10.25 4.00 -0.38 -0.46 se 134 1.00 17.00 10.61 4.42 0.17 -1.53 lect 428 1.00 17.00 1.80 2.67 3.96 16.43 428 1.00 17.00 1.59 2.18 4.49 22.18 et 428 38.00 153.00 83.30
N MIR. Max. M <
N MIII. Max. M SL Skewness Kurtosis al abuse 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 al abuse 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12 abuse 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 onal neglect 428 5.00 13.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.21 al neglect 428 25.00 69.00 30.82 6.99 1.98 3.39 core 428 25.00 17.00 10.25 4.00 -0.38 -0.46 buse 134 1.00 17.00 10.61 4.42 0.17 -1.53 ise 18 4.00 17.00 1.80 2.67 3.96 16.43 eglect 428 1.00 17.00 1.59 2.18 4.49 22.18 eglect 428 1.00
N MIII. Max. M SL Skewness Kurtosis al abuse 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 al abuse 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12 abuse 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 onal neglect 428 5.00 13.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.21 al neglect 428 5.00 13.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.39 core 428 25.00 69.00 30.82 6.99 1.98 5.18 abuse 201 1.00 17.00 10.25 4.00 -0.38 -0.46 buse 134 1.00 17.00 10.61 4.42 0.17 -1.53 ise 18 4.00 17.00 1.80 2.67 3.96 16.43 eglect 426 1.00
NMIII.MAX. M SL SkewnessKurtosisal abuse4285.0024.006.792.952.366.63al abuse4285.0012.005.671.202.044.12abuse4285.0011.005.120.676.0638.23onal neglect4285.0013.005.921.601.963.21al neglect4285.0013.005.921.601.963.39core42825.0069.0030.826.991.985.18abuse2011.0017.0010.254.00-0.38-0.46buse1341.0017.0010.614.420.17-1.53ise184.0017.001.802.673.9616.43
NMIII.Max. M SLSkewnessKurtosisal abuse4285.0024.006.792.952.366.63al abuse4285.0012.005.671.202.044.12abuse4285.0011.005.120.676.0638.23onal neglect4285.0021.007.323.351.853.21al neglect4285.0013.005.921.601.963.39core42825.0069.0030.826.991.985.18abuse2011.0017.0010.254.00-0.38-0.46buse1341.0017.0010.614.420.17-1.53-1.53
NMIII.MAX. M SLSkewnessKurtosisal abuse4285.0024.006.792.952.366.63al abuse4285.0012.005.671.202.044.12abuse4285.0011.005.120.676.0638.23onal neglect4285.0021.007.323.351.853.21al neglect4285.0013.005.921.601.963.39core42825.0069.0030.826.991.985.18abuse2011.0017.0010.254.00-0.38-0.461.71
NMIII.Max. M SL SkewnessKurtosisal abuse4285.0024.006.792.952.366.63al abuse4285.0012.005.671.202.044.12abuse4285.0011.005.120.676.0638.23onal neglect4285.0013.005.921.601.963.21al neglect4285.0013.005.921.601.963.39core42825.0069.0030.826.991.985.18abuse2011.0017.0010.254.00-0.38-0.46
N MIII. Max. M SL Skewness Kurtosis al abuse 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 al abuse 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12 abuse 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 onal neglect 428 5.00 21.00 7.32 3.35 1.85 3.21 al neglect 428 5.00 13.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.39 core 428 25.00 69.00 30.82 6.99 1.98 5.18
N MIII. Max. M SL Skewness Kurtosis abuse 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 suse 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12 ise 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 neglect 428 5.00 13.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.21 eglect 428 5.00 13.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.39 428 25.00 69.00 30.82 6.99 1.98 5.18
N MIN. Max. M M M Skewness Kurtosis 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 ct 428 5.00 21.00 7.32 3.35 1.85 3.21 428 5.00 13.00 5.92 1.60 1.96 3.39
N MIN. Max. M 5D Skewness Kurtosis 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23 ct 428 5.00 21.00 7.32 3.35 1.85 3.21
N MIN. Max. M M Skewness Kurtosis 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12 428 5.00 11.00 5.12 0.67 6.06 38.23
N MIN. Max. M M M Skewness Kurtosis M 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63 428 5.00 12.00 5.67 1.20 2.04 4.12
IV IVIIII. IVIAX. IV SKEWNESS Kurtosis 428 5.00 24.00 6.79 2.95 2.36 6.63
Min. Max. M SD Skewness Kurtosis
Descriptive Statistics

Table 2

Timing of child maltreatment was measured by adding an item following each CTQ item endorsed at a level of 1 or above. This was intended to capture the age of onset of the earliest maltreatment experience. Specifically, the participants were asked: "How old were you when this happened?" and had to check all boxes corresponding to the respective age in years. Participants could check one or multiple boxes with regard to the age at which maltreatment occured. To compute the age of onset variable, the lowest age endorsed across all items within each type of abuse was considered. This method of assessing timing of child maltreatment was similar with the approach used by other researchers who collected retrospective self-report pertaining to age of onset of maltreatment experiences (e.g., Dunn, McLaughlin, Slopen, Rosand, & Smoller, 2013).

The Rejection Sensitivity Questionnaire (RSQ; Downey & Feldman, 1996) is an 18-item self-report instrument measuring an individual's rejection sensitivity as a composite of rejection concern and acceptance expectancy (see Appendix I). Each item describes a specific situation commonly encountered by college students (e.g., You ask someone in one of your classes to coffee). Every item is followed by two questions pertaining to (a) experienced concern/anxiety related to the other person's response (e.g., How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to go?) and (b) the expectation for how the other person might respond to the request (e.g., I would expect that the person would want to go with me.). Responses to the two questions for each item are rated on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*very unconcerned*) to 6 (*very concerned*) and from 1 (*very unlikely*) to 6 (*very likely*) respectively. A high score on the RSQ is reflective of high rejection sensitivity. The RSQ demonstrated high internal consistency (Chronbach's $\alpha = .83$) in a sample of undergraduate college students

(Downey & Feldman, 1996). Additionally, the RSQ yielded test-retest reliability at three weeks of .83 (Downey & Feldman, 1996). Moreover, individuals with high scores on the RSQ were more likely than those with low RSQ scores to perceive an ambiguous situation as one in which the other person intentionally rejected them in both a laboratory setting and in the context of a romantic relationship (Downey & Feldman, 1996). Internal consistency of the RSQ in the current study was .87.

The Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS; Gratz & Roemer, 2004) is a 36-item self-report measure of emotion dysregulation. Items are rated on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (almost never; 0-10%) to 5 (almost always; 91-100%). High scores on the DERS (see Appendix J) indicate greater difficulty with emotion regulation. Some items are reverse-scored. The DERS can yield a total score and subscale scores pertaining to the following factors: (1) nonacceptance of emotional responses (e.g., When I'm upset, I become angry with myself for feeling that way), (2) difficulties engaging in goaldirected behavior (e.g., When I'm upset, I have difficulty getting work done.), (3) impulse control difficulties (e.g., I experience my emotions as overwhelming and out of control.), (4) lack of emotional awareness (e.g., I pay attention to how I feel.), (5) limited access to emotion regulation strategies (e.g., When I'm upset, I believe that I will remain that way for a long time.), and (6) lack of emotional clarity (e.g., I have no idea how I'm feeling.). The DERS demonstrated high internal consistency ($\alpha = .93$) and good test– retest reliability (r = .88) over a period ranging from 4 to 8 weeks (Gratz & Roemer, 2004). The DERS was also found to have good construct and predictive validity (Vasilev, Crowell, Beauchaine, Mead, & Gatzke-Kopp, 2009; Weinberg & Klonsky, 2009). In this

study, the internal consistency coefficients for the DERS subscales ranged from .79 to .91, with the reliability for the total scale being .94.

The Interpersonal Competence Questionnaire (ICQ; Buhrmester, Furman, Wittenberg, & Reis, 1988) is a 40-item self-report measure designed for assessing one's competence in the interpersonal domain (see Appendix K). Each item describes an interpersonal situation (e.g., Being able to admit that you might be wrong when a disagreement with a close companion begins to build into a serious fight), which is rated on a 5-point scale to reflect the participant's level of competence and comfort in managing the respective situation. Answer choices range from 1 (I'm poor at this; I'd feel so uncomfortable and unable to handle this situation, I'd avoid it if possible) to 5 (I'm EXTREMELY good at this; I'd feel very comfortable and could handle this situation very *well*). Participants can be directed to respond to items considering their interaction with a same-sex friend or with an opposite-sex date or romantic partner. The ICQ has a 5-factor structure yielding the following areas of interpersonal competence: (1) initiation of relationships, (2) disclosure of personal information, (3) assertion of displeasure with others, (4) provision of emotional support, and (5) conflict management. High scores are reflective of high interpersonal competence. For the purpose of this study, only responses to items pertaining to the conflict management subscale were analyzed. Reliability coefficients for the ICQ subscales ranged from .77 for the conflict management subscale to .86 for the initiation of relationships subscale (Buhrmester, Furman, Wittenberg, & Reis, 1988). Additionally, test-retest reliability at four weeks yielded coefficients ranging from .69 (conflict management) to .89 (initiation of relationships) across the five subscales (Buhrmester, Furman, Wittenberg, & Reis, 1988). The ICQ factors showed

small to medium correlations with other measures of social functioning (e.g., dating frequency, popularity, assertion, social reticence), with the initiation subscale yielding the strongest correlations (Buhrmester, Furman, Wittenberg, & Reis, 1988). The ICQ has been extensively used with a large variety of samples including undergraduate college students (Buhrmester, Furman, Wittenberg, & Reis, 1988). In this study, the internal consistency coefficients for the ICQ subscales ranged from .78 to .87, with the conflict management subscale yielding a Chronbach's α of .79.

Chapter 3: Results

Preliminary Analytic Steps

Before conducting any of the primary analyses for this study, several data screening steps were taken to detect any problems with the original data set (N = 479). First, data from participants who did not meet inclusion criteria for age (n = 8) and gender (n = 2) were excluded from further consideration. Second, data from one participant were disregarded because of not completing one of the core measures for the study (i.e., the CTQ). Third, surveys completed in less than 15 minutes (n = 14) were considered invalid, because this is insufficient time to read all items and respond based on personal experiences. The completion time of 15 minutes was selected as it was one standard deviation below the mean completion time for this sample.

After excluding data based on the criteria noted above, issues related to univariate and multivariate outliers were addressed. Corrections for univariate outliers were performed. Specifically, all responses that were at least three standard deviations (*SDs*) away from the mean were set to the value of the mean ± 3 *SDs*. Next, multivariate outliers were detected using the Mahalanobis distance. The threshold for what constituted a multivariate outlier was determined using a formula that returned the cumulative probability that the value was from the chi-square distribution. All multivariate outliers (*n* = 26) were excluded from further analyses. The final sample size used in this study after the aforementioned exclusions was 428 participants.

Data from the final sample were used to perform descriptive statistics for all variables of interest to the primary research questions (see Table 2) and to compute Pearson correlations among the study variables (see Table 3). Given that the sample was

37

recruited from the general population of college students, the fact that trauma endorsements were positively skewed was expected, considering that most people do not experience severe childhood trauma in their lives. However, all other measures of interest besides the CTQ have low skewness with absolute values lower than 1, indicating a close to normal distribution of those respective characteristics.

A detailed look at the data pertaining to trauma endorsements indicates that all or almost all participants experienced at least a minimal level of emotional or physical neglect growing up, with almost half of them experiencing emotional abuse and a small percentage experiencing physical or sexual abuse (see Table 4a). Notably, in this sample, the validity scores on the trauma measure (see Table 4b) suggest that about half of the participants may have underreported their experience of maltreatment, potentially as a result of social desirability biases. Moreover, internal consistency values for the physical abuse and the physical neglect scales were very poor, thus precluding their use as independent variables in any analyses. Therefore, the results from the main analyses from this study should be interpreted within the context of these limitations.

Ţ
abj
ø
ω

Pearson Correlations Among Study Variables

Regulation Scale; RSQ = Rejection Sensitivity Questionnaire; ICQ = Interpersonal Competence Questionnaire; AUDIT = Alcohol Use	<i>Note:</i> Gender is coded 1 for male and 2 for female; CTQ = Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; DERS = Difficulties in Emotion	11. ICQ - conflict management	10. DERS	9. RSQ	8. CTQ – total	7. CTQ - physical neglect	6. CTQ - emotional neglect	5. CTQ - sexual abuse	4. CTQ - physical abuse	3. CTQ - emotional abuse	2. AUDIT	1. Gender	Variable
on S	or n											ī	1
ensitivity	nale and 2										'	159**	2
/Questic	2 for fem									ı	.064	.115*	3
onnaire; I	nale; CT(ı	.338**	024	043	4
CQ = Int	$\lambda = Child$							ı	.071	.154**	.045	.063	J
erpersona	hood Tra						'	.070	.204**	.509**	.011	079	6
al Compe	uma Que					•	.511**	.051	.151**	.347**	.063	092	7
tence Qu	stionnaire				•	.650**	.852**	.218**	.454**	.817**	.047	012	8
estionnai	e; DERS			ı	.322**		.290**	.022	.079	.297**	052	033	9
re; AUDI	= Difficu		·	.401**	.247**	.167**		.067	007	.245**	.072	.126**	10
T = Alcoh	lties in En	1	240**	169**	053			.002	093	076	033	014	11

Disorder Identification Test.

*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

******Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 4

Trauma Characteristics

Trauma type	Any trauma	None to Minimal	Low	Moderate	Severe
			n (%)		
Emotional abuse	201 (47.0)	347 (81.1)	57 (13.3)	14 (3.3)	10 (2.3)
Physical abuse	134 (31.3)	389 (90.9)	33 (7.7)	6 (1.4)	0 (0)
Sexual abuse	18 (4.2)	410 (95.8)	7 (1.6)	11 (2.6)	0 (0)
Emotional	428 (100.0)	347 (81.1)	56 (13.1)	14 (3.3)	11 (2.6)
neglect					
Physical neglect	426 (99.5)	365 (85.3)	44 (10.3)	17 (4.0)	2 (.5)
<i>Note:</i> $n = sa$	ample size; % =	= percent of sar	nple. Any trau	<i>ma</i> refers to a	ny

(a) Level of Severity by Trauma Type

p np

endorsement of trauma history in the respective category, above the "none" threshold.

(b) Trauma History Validity Scores

n (%)
180 (42.1)
97 (22.7)
75 (17.5)
76 (17.8)

Note: n = sample size; % = percent of sample; CTQ = Childhood Trauma

Questionnaire; Scores of 1 through 3 indicate possible underreporting of maltreatment (false negatives); additional data about trauma history may be needed to confirm the absence of abuse or neglect.

The research questions for this study were investigated through the use of structural equation modeling in Mplus version 7 (Muthén & Muthén, 1998-2015), which allowed for the use of bootstrapping, a recommended approach for assessing indirect effects (e.g., Hayes, 2015; MacKinnon, Fairchild, & Fritz, 2007; Wang & Preacher,

2015). The main advantages of this method are being able to use a smaller sample size than previous approaches in order to detect meaningful results (Fritz & MacKinnon, 2007) and to bypass problems related to non-normality due to not having to meet assumptions for the sampling distribution (e.g., MacKinnon, Fairchild, & Fritz, 2007). The final sample size used in this study (N = 428) exceeded the minimum sample size (N= 404) calculated a priori using the table provided by Fritz and MacKinnon (2007) for adequate power (.8) needed to conduct the core analyses for this study. To address issues related to multicollinearity specific to interaction terms, all predictor variables were mean-centered prior to conducting any analyses (Aiken & West, 1991; Dalal & Zickar, 2012).

Mediation Analyses

The first set of analyses was aimed at investigating the first research question, which pertained to the hypothesized mediation roles of rejection sensitivity and emotion regulation in the relationship between child maltreatment and interpersonal conflict management. First, models with one mediator were tested, considering each type of trauma, as well as overall maltreatment as predictor variables. Then, models containing both mediators were tested for situations in which significant indirect effects were found for both solitary mediator models. Gender differences may exist in the way in which individuals manage conflict. For example, masculine approaches to conflict were found to reflect a dominant or externalizing style, whereas feminine approaches to conflict were associated with avoidance of conflict (Brewer, Mitchell, & Weber, 2002). Furthermore, individual differences in conflict management may also be impacted by alcohol use, as an extensive body of literature points to alcohol intoxication being linked to hostility and violence in interpersonal conflict (Klostermann & Fals-Stewart, 2006). Alcohol use is important to consider given its prevalence in college students, with 60% of students of ages 18 to 22 reporting drinking alcohol in the past month and two thirds of drinkers endorsing binge drinking behaviors during this time frame (SAMHSA, 2014). Therefore, models for all analyses controlled for gender and alcohol use.

The first step in interpreting the results of the mediation analyses was to evaluate model fit. Overall model fit was examined through the use of the likelihood ratio test, which needed to yield a nonsignificant χ^2 value to demonstrate good fit. Approximate fit indices such as the comparative fit index (CFI) and the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) were also investigated. Values for good model fit are larger than .97 for CFI (Schermelleh-Engel, Moosbrugger, & Muller, 2003), lower than .06 for RMSEA (Hu & Bentler, 1999), and lower than .08 for the upper bound of the RMSEA 90% confidence interval (MacCallum, Browne, & Sugawara, 1996). Values for acceptable or adequate fit are .95 to .97 for CFI and .06 to .08 for RMSEA (Schermelleh-Engel, Moosbrugger, & Muller, 2003). Values between .08 and .10 for RMSEA are considered mediocre fit (Schermelleh-Engel, Moosbrugger, & Muller, 2003). Next, for mediation effects to be demonstrated, the confidence intervals of the indirect effects must not contain zero (Hayes, 2015).

The results of the mediation analyses for the solitary models with rejection sensitivity are noted in Table 5. Model fit indices across all of these analyses were good based on nonsignificance of the χ^2 , RMSEA, and CFI. The model for emotional abuse was the only one in which the CFI value barely missed the threshold for adequate fit (i.e., .95) with a value of .944. Although the effects of gender and alcohol use on conflict management were nonsignificant, the inclusion of these variables in the model was relevant, as it improved model fit. Rejection sensitivity significantly mediated the relationships between child maltreatment and conflict management for overall trauma and emotional trauma (i.e., emotional abuse and emotional neglect), but not for sexual abuse.

Table 5

Results of Mediation Analyses for Solitary Models with Rejection Sensitivity

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 4.631,$	RMSEA = .056	<i>CFI</i> = .944	
	<i>p</i> = .099	90% CI: [.000; .124]		
Direct effects on Conflict	β	<i>S.E.</i>	<i>p</i> value	
Management				
Trauma	008	.060	.888	
Rejection sensitivity	154	.053	.004	
Gender	016	.047	.727	
Substance use	043	.049	.382	
Trauma \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	.292	.051	<.001	
Indirect effect	estimate =045; 95% CI: [082;013]			

(a) Emotional Abuse Analysis

(b) Sexual Abuse Analysis

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 1.510,$ p = .470	<i>RMSEA</i> < .001 90% CI: [.000; .088]	<i>CFI</i> = 1.000
Direct effects on Conflict	β	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	.008	.035	.832
Rejection sensitivity	157	.054	.004
Gender	018	.047	.701
Substance use	045	.049	.365
Trauma \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	.024	.036	.529
Indirect effect	estimate =	004; 95% CI: [018; .0	08]

Table 5 continued

(c) Emotional Neglect Analysis

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 1.137,$ p = .566	<i>RMSEA</i> < .001 90% CI: [.000; .081]	<i>CFI</i> = 1.000
Direct effects on Conflict	β	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	.040	.056	.481
Rejection sensitivity	169	.055	.003
Gender	014	.048	.766
Substance use	045	.049	.354
Trauma \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	.310	.052	<.001
Indirect effect	estimate =	052; 95% CI: [092;0	017]

(d) Total Trauma Analysis

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 2.317,$ p = .314	<i>RMSEA</i> = .019 90% CI: [.000; .100]	<i>CFI</i> = .994
Direct effects on Conflict	<u>β</u>	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	005	.061	.941
Rejection sensitivity	155	.056	.006
Gender	018	.047	.709
Substance use	044	.049	.373
Trauma \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	.335	.048	<.001
Indirect effect	estimate =	052; 95% CI: [093;0	015]

Note: RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation; CFI = Comparative

Fit Index; CI = Confidence Interval; S.E. = Standard Error.

The results of the mediation analyses for solitary models with emotion dysregulation are available in Table 6. Emotion dysregulation significantly mediated the relationship between child maltreatment and conflict management, in analyses considering emotional abuse, emotional neglect, and total trauma. However, model fit was poor or mediocre for all models, based on all three indicators considered ($\chi^2 p$ value, RMSEA, CFI), even though controlling for gender and alcohol use improved the model. This indicates that the models with emotion dysregulation as a mediator do not provide the best explanation for the relationship between childhood trauma and young adult conflict management problems and that other models may be better suited to explain this relationship.

Table 6

Results of Mediation Analyses for Solitary Models with Emotion Dysregulation

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 6.256,$ p = .044	<i>RMSEA</i> = .071 90% CI: [.010; .137]	<i>CFI</i> = .910
Direct effects on Conflict	β	<i>S.E.</i>	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	005	.059	.935
Emotion Dysregulation	232	.053	<.001
Gender	.021	.046	.647
Substance use	015	.050	.764
Trauma → Emotion	.236	.052	<.001
Dysregulation			
Indirect effect	estimate =	055; 95% CI: [094;	023]

(a) Emotional Abuse Analysis

$(\mathbf{l}_{\mathbf{r}})$	Coursel	A lange	1	Irraia
(D)	Sexual	Aduse	Ana	I YSIS

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 9.080,$	RMSEA = .091	<i>CFI</i> = .747
	<i>p</i> = .012	90% CI: [.037; .155]	
Direct effects on Conflict	β	<i>S.E</i> .	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	.016	.033	.643
Emotion Dysregulation	234	.051	<.000
Gender	.019	.046	.673
Substance use	016	.050	.747
Trauma → Emotion	.066	.036	.085
Dysregulation			
Indirect effect	estimate =	036; 95% CI: [015; .00)1]

Table 6 continued

(d) Emotional Neglect Analysis

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 12.499,$	RMSEA = .111	<i>CFI</i> = .791
	<i>p</i> = .002	90% CI: [.058; .173]	
Direct effects on Conflict	β	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	.042	.054	.434
Emotion Dysregulation	243	.053	<.001
Gender	.026	.047	.586
Substance use	015	.050	.764
Trauma \rightarrow Emotion	.214	.047	<.001
Dysregulation			
Indirect effect	estimate =(052; 95% CI: [088;0	23]

(d) Total Trauma Analysis

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 10.146,$	RMSEA = .098	<i>CFI</i> = .850
	<i>p</i> = .006	90% CI: [.044; .161]	
Direct effects on Conflict	β	<i>S.E.</i>	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	.001	.059	.985
Emotion Dysregulation	234	.054	<.001
Gender	.020	.047	.660
Substance use	015	.050	.758
Trauma → Emotion	.249	.049	<.001
Dysregulation			
Indirect effect	estimate =058; 95% CI: [098;027]		
N_{oto} : DMSEA - Doot N	Joon Squara Erro	r of Approximations CE	I - Componetivo

Note: RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation; CFI = Comparative

Fit Index; CI = Confidence Interval; S.E. = Standard Error.

The last set of mediation analyses included both proposed mediators (i.e., rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation) in the same model, thus testing both mediation pathways simultaneously for the types of trauma that yielded significant indirect effects for both individual mediators (see Table 7). Although, as in the prior analyses, the effects of gender and alcohol use were nonsignificant, the variables were

kept in the models for consistency. Given that initial data for the dual mediation models indicated model misfit, modification indices were explored to identify components that may improve the models. One such component indicated by Mplus and supported by theoretical considerations was the covariance between the two mediators. From a conceptual standpoint, both rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation are variables that entail a form of maladaptive coping with emotional distress. Statistically, in the current sample, these variables have a moderate significant correlation with one another (r = .401; p < .001), supporting the idea of partial construct overlap. Therefore, including the covariance between rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation in the dual mediation models had both conceptual and statistical value. Even with the inclusion of this relationship between mediators, the model fit was poor or mediocre, given the significant χ^2 and RMSEA and CFI values. Furthermore, although the sum of indirect effects in this model, as well as the mediation effect of emotion dysregulation were significant, the mediation effect of rejection sensitivity in the dual mediation models was nonsignificant. Together, these findings suggest that a dual mediation model including two proposed mediators with a moderate construct overlap provides an inadequate explanation for the process entailed in the relationship between a history of child maltreatment and poor conflict management. Therefore, other models may be better suited to explain this relationship.

Table 7

Results of Dual Mediation Analyses with Rejection Sensitivity and Emotion

Dysregulation

(a) Emotional Abuse Analysis

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 17.306,$	RMSEA = .088	<i>CFI</i> = .914
	<i>p</i> =.002	90% CI: [.048; .133]	
Direct effects on Conflict	β	<i>S.E.</i>	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	.012	.059	.840
Rejection sensitivity	075	.060	.212
Emotion dysregulation	204	.059	.001
Gender	.012	.046	.800
Substance use	022	.050	.655
Trauma \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	.292	.051	<.001
Trauma → Emotion	.236	.052	<.001
dysregulation			
Rejection sensitivity <>	.365	.044	<.001
Emotion dysregulation			
Indirect effect of rejection	estimate =(022; 95% CI: [059; .01	.3]
sensitivity			
Indirect effect of emotion	estimate =0	048; 95% CI: [089;0	17]
dysregulation			
Sum of indirect effects	estimate =0	070; 95% CI: [114;0	32]

Table 7 continued

(b) Emotional Neglect Analysis

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 17.894,$	RMSEA = .090	<i>CFI</i> = .912
	<i>p</i> = .001	90% CI: [.050; .135]	
Direct effects on Conflict	β	<i>S.E.</i>	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	.062	.056	.263
Rejection sensitivity	088	.061	.150
Emotion dysregulation	210	.059	.001
Gender	.020	.048	.683
Substance use	022	.050	.655
Trauma \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	.310	.052	<.001
Trauma \rightarrow Emotion	.214	.047	<.001
dysregulation			
Rejection sensitivity <>	.368	.045	<.001
Emotion dysregulation			
Indirect effect of rejection	estimate =0	027; 95% CI: [067; .01	1]
sensitivity			
Indirect effect of emotion	estimate =0	045; 95% CI: [082;0	16]
dysregulation			
Sum of indirect effects	estimate $=$ 0	072; 95% CI: [118;0	32]

Table 7 continued

(c) Total Trauma Analysis

Model Fit	$\chi^2 = 17.529$,	RMSEA = .089	<i>CFI</i> = .919
	p = .002	90% CI: [.049; .134]	
Direct effects on Conflict	β	<i>S.E.</i>	<i>p</i> value
Management			
Trauma	.020	.060	.736
Rejection sensitivity	077	.061	.205
Emotion dysregulation	205	.060	.001
Gender	.014	.047	.768
Substance use	023	.050	.651
Trauma \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	.335	.048	<.001
Trauma → Emotion	.249	.049	<.001
dysregulation			
Rejection sensitivity <>	.356	.046	<.001
Emotion dysregulation			
Indirect effect of rejection	estimate =0	026; 95% CI: [068; .01	5]
sensitivity			
Indirect effect of emotion	estimate $=$ 0	051; 95% CI: [092;0	19]
dysregulation			
Sum of indirect effects	estimate $=$ 0	077; 95% CI: [125;0	35]
	а п	CA CA	

Note: RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation; CFI = Comparative

Fit Index; CI = Confidence Interval; S.E. = Standard Error.

Moderated Mediation Analyses

The second set of analyses entailed the investigation of the second research question, which involved testing the potential moderating effect of trauma onset on the two mediation pathways (i.e., from trauma to the mediator and from the mediator to interpersonal conflict management). Moderation effects were tested in the solitary mediation models that yielded significant indirect effects (as discussed in the previous section). All models included controlling for gender and alcohol use; however, neither of these variables yielded significant effects. As illustrated in Tables 8 and 9, none of the moderation effects were significant in any of the models including rejection sensitivity or emotion dysregulation as solitary mediators. Given this lack of significant effects in the solitary models, models with both mediators included were not tested.

Table 8

Moderation Effects of Trauma Onset in Solitary Mediation Models with Rejection

Sensitivity

(a) Emotional Abuse Analysis

Pathway	β	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Emotional abuse \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	088	.076	.247
Rejection sensitivity \rightarrow Conflict management	.010	.072	.895

(b) Emotional Neglect Analysis

Pathway	β	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Emotional abuse \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	.011	.048	.819
Rejection sensitivity \rightarrow Conflict management	.021	.049	.671

(c) Total Trauma Analysis

Pathway	β	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Emotional abuse \rightarrow Rejection sensitivity	038	.046	.410
Rejection sensitivity \rightarrow Conflict management	048	.050	.336
Note: S.E Standard Error	.010	.020	.550

Note: S.E. = Standard Error

Table 9

Moderation Effects of Trauma Onset in Solitary Mediation Models with Emotion

Dysregulation

(a) Emotional Abuse Analysis

Pathway	β	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Emotional abuse \rightarrow Emotion dysregulation	078	.136	.564
Emotion Dysregulation \rightarrow Conflict	.001	<.001	.242
management			

(b) Emotional Neglect Analysis

Pathway	β	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Emotional abuse \rightarrow Emotion dysregulation	.033	.049	.505
Emotion Dysregulation \rightarrow Conflict	003	.048	.956
management			

(c) Total Trauma Analysis

Pathway	β	S.E.	<i>p</i> value
Emotional abuse \rightarrow Emotion dysregulation	.013	.048	.789
Emotion Dysregulation \rightarrow Conflict	.024	.048	.616
management			

Note: S.E. = Standard Error

Chapter 4: Discussion

The current study was an investigation of the relationship between self-reported childhood trauma experiences and conflict management abilities in young adulthood through the examination of several proposed indirect effects. Specifically, the mediator roles of rejection sensitivity and emotion dysregulation were tested via solitary and dual mediation models. Additionally, childhood trauma onset was tested as a moderator of the indirect pathways of mediation. The specific findings are discussed in detail below.

Key Findings

The hypothesis that rejection sensitivity would mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and interpersonal conflict management was confirmed in all but one solitary mediation model. The mediator role of rejection sensitivity held true for all types of trauma investigated, except for sexual abuse. This finding may be explained by the cognitive attribution associated with each type of abuse and its connection with the rejection sensitivity construct.

Emotional abuse may be conceptualized as instances of negative interpersonal feedback. For instance, if a child is called names (e.g., "stupid," "lazy," "ugly"), he/she may interpret this response from the environment as a message that he/she is unwanted or unworthy, hence creating the optimal circumstances for rejection sensitivity to become the lens through which the individual views future social interactions. Similarly, emotional neglect represents other signs of rejection by important adults, but this time through the absence of response, which again sends the message that the individual is perhaps an inconvenience for his/her caregivers. These experiences of rejection and neglect in the future. Thus,

53

this anticipation is likely to fuel anticipatory anxiety prior to social interactions and cues from the other person are likely to be interpreted as negative. A different mechanism may be at work when considering sexual trauma.

Owens and Chard (2001) found that adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse experienced cognitions that were primarily focused on negative self-attributions rather than on cognitive biases about the world. Thus, individuals with histories of sexual abuse may process their experiences in a way that yields cognitive biases about themselves (e.g., being unworthy or deserving of the abuse). In contrast, individuals with histories of other types of abuse may develop cognitive biases congruent with negative inferences about the environment such as interpreting other people's neutral behavior as deliberate acts of rejection. To this end, it may be that the impairment trajectory stemming from childhood sexual abuse may follow an internalizing pathway (e.g., mood concerns, anxiety, avoidance behaviors), whereas histories of other types of abuse may follow an externalizing pathway (e.g., making global accusations such as "you always do that," actively engaging in a fight or argument). This difference in the processing of the various types of abuse may explain why rejection sensitivity did not emerge as a mediator in the model involving sexual abuse.

Although the discussion from above provides a possible theoretical explanation for the differential findings when considering sexual abuse versus other types of abuse, another possibility may be related to the characteristics of this sample. Specifically, endorsements of sexual abuse histories were present in only 4.2% of participants (n = 18), with the remaining participants reporting no sexual abuse. It is therefore possible that the positively skewed responses for the sexual abuse variable may be responsible for the lack of a mediation effect in this particular model.

The hypothesis that emotion dysregulation would mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and interpersonal conflict management was not supported by the findings of this study. As explained in previous sections, desirable results in mediation analyses models require that two conditions are met: (1) good model fit indices and (2) significant mediation effects. Because model fit for emotion dysregulation mediation analyses was poor or modest, mediation effects are not interpretable regardless of significance level. The poor model fit indicates that the construct of emotion dysregulation as assessed in this study does not fully capture the mechanism by which trauma history manifests in maladaptive conflict management.

Previous studies considering the total score on the DERS measure showed that emotion dysregulation mediated the relationship between emotional maltreatment and relationship satisfaction (Bradley & Shafer, 2012), as well as interpersonal violence perpetration and victimization (Berzensky & Yates, 2010). However, an in-depth look at these mediation relationships revealed that only specific facets of emotion dysregulation, as defined by Gratz and Roemer (2004), played a role. For example, when Bradbury and Shafer (2012) tested the mediation using all six subscales of the DERS, they found that the parallel mediation model was nonsignificant and that indirect effects were significant only for the three DERS subscales pertaining to nonacceptance of emotional responses, impulse control difficulties, and lack of emotional awareness. Similary, in a parallel mediation model that included the DERS subscales for impulse control difficulties and lack of emotional awareness, Berzensky and Yates (2010) found significant mediation

55

only for the DERS impulse control variable. Given these findings, the poor model fit in models examining the mediating role of emotion dysregulation in the relationship between emotional trauma and poor conflict management from this study may be rooted in the the fact that only some facets, as opposed to the total emotion dysregulation construct may play a mediating role.

Another explanation for the poor model fit in analyses involving emotion dysregulation may be that this model omits other potential contributors. For instance, in a longitudinal study with children of ages 6-12 years, Kim and Cicchetti (2010) found that the relationship between initial emotion dysregulation and externalizing symptoms (i.e., teacher-reported aggressive and delinquent behaviors) at one year follow-up was mediated by both baseline externalizing symptoms and peer rejection (assessed via peer sociometrics in a summer camp) at one year follow-up. Therefore, it may be that additional variables need to be considered as part of the solitary mediation models involving emotion dysregulation from this study.

Given that rejection sensitivity yielded mediation effects when tested on its own, this offered the opportunity to test the aforementioned hypothesis by placing both emotion dysregulation and rejection sensitivity in the same model. Unfortunately, this approach of testing a dual mediator model also failed to yield good model fit indices. Furthermore, the indirect effect of rejection sensitivity was no longer significant when having emotion dysregulation in the same model, indicating that it is perhaps the construct overlap between the two varaibles that drives the mediation model. To this end, having both mediators in the same model does not help improve our understanding of the mechanisms responsible for the pathway between childhood trauma and poor management of interpersonal conflict beyond what can be explained by rejection sensitivity alone.

The second research question involved testing the moderating role of trauma age of onset on the mediating pathways for the models in which significant mediation effects were found. Results showed that none of the indirect effects pertaining to moderation were significant, regardless of the mediator considered. One possible explanation for the non-significant moderation effects may pertain to the validity of the age of onset variable. Although retrospective self-report about the age of onset of abuse was successfully used in previous research, it is possible that the level of behavioral specificity from this study may have posed difficulties for accurate recall. For instance, researchers such as Dunn and colleagues (2016) asked participants how old they were when specific incidents of physical abuse (e.g., being hit with a fist, being kicked, being thrown on the floor) or sexual abuse (e.g., being forced to have sexual relations) happened. It is possible that the salience and severity of those events may make age of onset easier to recall than in situations in which participants endorse experiences such as having been insulted (emotional abuse) or not feeling loved (emotional neglect), which may have had a milder or less salient impact on the individual.

A second reason for the lack of moderation effects may be that the age of onset variable may be an oversimplified measure of the developmental context and its interaction with the experience of child maltreatment. For example, an individual exposed to childhood trauma at age 5 years and an individual exposed to childhood trauma at age 5 years, as well as at other ages (e.g., age 14 years) have the same age of trauma onset. However, the first individual is only exposed to risk inherent in developmental processes from early childhood, whereas the second individual has additional risks which are associated with typical development in adolescence. Furthermore, within this context, the second individual would have a higher risk of developing rejection sensitivity (i.e., a cognitive mechanism) than the first individual, because of his/her advanced cognitive capacity. To this end, a more appropriate construct for the timing of maltreatment may need incorporate additional variables such as duration and reoccurrence of maltreatment, beyond the age of onset.

A third explanation for the non-significant moderation effects in analyses pertaining to emotional abuse may be related to the limited endorsements of such experiences (i.e., n = 201, 47% of total sample). The age of onset variable could only be computed for participants who reported at least a minimum level of trauma in the specific area under investigation, as an age of trauma onset would not exist for participants with no history of such trauma. This entailed the elimination of participants without a history of trauma from the set of analyses testing the role of age of onset as a moderator. As a result, the subsample that could be considered for the analyses pertaining to the second research question may have impacted the power needed to detect any moderation effects.

Limitations

Some limitations of the current study are important to note. First, the participants represented a sample of college students recruited from the general population. As such, the results of the study are only generalizable to young adults who are pursuing college education, have low to moderate histories of childhood trauma and who experience limited mental health concerns. Moreover, the fact that some participants endorsed no history of any kind of trauma posed limitations for the moderated mediation analyses,

58

which could only be completed with participants who reported trauma histories. Given the low number of participants (n = 18, 4.2% of total sample) who endorsed a history of sexual abuse, the results of this study do not shed light on the mechanism that ensues in the trajectory from childhood sexual trauma to interpersonal difficulties in young adulthood.

Second, the score on the minimization/denial scale of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire indicated a possible under-endorsement of trauma and internal consistency was unacceptable for the physical abuse and physical neglect scales. Some potential reasons for these problems are social desirability bias, rushing through the completion of measures to receive course credit, as well as the adaptation made in the administration of this measure (i.e., online instead of on paper).

Third, the CTQ measure is limited to capturing the frequency of occurrence of child maltreatment. However, other variables such as maltreatment severity, chronicity and persistence across developmental periods, as well as experiences of multiple types of maltreatment are additional facets of maltreatment which may contribute to the way in which future negative outcomes unfold.

Fourth, the age of onset variable may have been too crude of a measurement of timing of maltreatment. To this end, the variable in this study does not differentiate between individuals who experienced trauma at one age versus those with trauma experiences at multiple ages.

Fifth, all data of this study was collected via self-report measures, hence relying on the perspective of only one informant. A related limitation of self-report is particularly relevant to the trauma history accounts. Specifically, participants were asked for retrospective reports of trauma, which may have made it difficult for them to recall and report instances of childhood trauma that were mild or that occurred in their early childhood.

Future Directions

Several steps could be taken in future studies to address the limitations noted above. To better understand the relationship between childhood trauma and young adult interpersonal functioning, it may be helpful to recruit a sample of survivors of childhood trauma rather than a sample from the general population. To improve the validity of historical accounts of trauma, additional measures could be used to determine the presence of child abuse or neglect. For example, participants may complete unstructured clinical interviews or historical records could be collected (e.g., documentation from involvement with Children's Services, medical records). Objective measures may also help pinpoint the age of onset of trauma with more accuracy than retrospective selfreports. If using online survey as a primary data collection, it may be helpful to embed validity check questions (e.g., Click on answer "yellow chair" if you are an undergraduate student.) to verify participants' attention to the completion of measures. Furthermore, the models in this study may be improved by considering additional facets of child maltreatment experiences (e.g., severity, duration, persistence across developmental periods, co-occurrence of multiple types of trauma).

The mediating role of emotion dysregulation remains to be further explored by examining the differential roles among the various components of this contruct. As shown in previous studies (e.g., Bradbury & Shafer, 2012; Berzensky & Yates, 2010), it is possible that only some parts of emotion dysregulation (e.g., impulse control, emotional awareness) may play a role in the relationship between child maltreatment and poor social functioning. Moreover, future studies should include investigations of the relationship between emotion dysregulation and other variables such as rejection sensitivity or peer rejection to comprehensively explain the pathway to negative social outcomes.

Lastly, longitudinal studies would be beneficial for the in vivo follow up of individuals through their pathway from childhood trauma to social functioning in young adulthood. This approach would help answer additional research questions such as when cognitive-affective biases such as rejection sensitivity first become apparent, as well as the extent to which individuals with childhood trauma histories rely on them to inform their behavior in social interactions. This would provide additional information about the appropriate timing for interventions and indicate the level of risk for social impairment posed by biases emerging from histories of trauma.

Conclusions

The current study contributes to the trauma and social functioning literatures by demonstrating the mediating role that rejection sensitivity has in the pathway from childhood trauma (all types considered except sexual abuse) to poor interpersonal conflict management in young adulthood. This provides a clinical direction for addressing this important risk factor (i.e., rejection sensitivity) for social impairment in survivors of child abuse and/or neglect. Specifically, mental health professionals working with youth exposed to childhood trauma may chose to focus their efforts on targeting the cognitive bias inherent in rejection sensitivity through strategies such as cognitive restructuring or cognitive diffusion. Furthermore, they may prioritize addressing the anticipatory anxiety pertaining to rejection by others via strategies such as graded exposure.

This study does not provide conclusive evidence about the mediator role of emotion dysregulation in the pathway from childhood trauma to interpersonal difficulties. However, the fact that none of the models containing emotion dysregulation yielded good model fit indices points to a need to further explore the independent roles of various facets of emotion dysregulation, as well as additional factors that may help provide a better explanation of the model, when emotion dysregulation is present. From a clinical standpoint, a key message emerging from the results of the analyses involving emotion dysregulaton is that helping an individual better regulate his/her emotions is likely to be insufficient in addressing social impairment in the aftermath of childhood trauma.

The low reliability of the physical abuse and physical neglect subscales precluded the use of these variables in any of the intended analyses. Therefore, no conclusions could be drawn about the mediated relationships of these types of abuse with conflict management.

Lastly, the moderating role of age of trauma onset was not confirmed in this study. This may be partly due to potential accuracy problems inherent in retrospective self-report, the inherent crude measurement of timing of maltreatment, as well as due to the limited endorsements of trauma in this sample. Therefore, the research question related to the moderating role of age of onset remains to be further explored in future studies, in which all participants have a history of childhood trauma and in which collateral information about timing of maltreatment can be collected.

62

References

- Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (1991). Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978). Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Alberts, A., Elkind, D., & Ginsberg, S. (2007). The personal fable and risk-taking in early adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 36*, 71-76.
- Ayduk, O., May, D., Downey, G., & Higgins, E. T. (2003). Tactical differences in coping with rejection sensitivity: The role of prevention pride. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 29(4), 435–448. doi: 10.1177/0146167202250911
- Baer, J. C., & Martinez, C. D. (2006). Child maltreatment and insecure attachment: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, 24, 187–197. doi: 10.1080/02646830600821231
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- Bernstein, D. P., Ahluvalia, T., Pogge, D., & Handelsman, L. (1997). Validity of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire in an adolescent psychiatric population. *Journal* of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 36(3), 340–348.

Bernstein, D. P., Fink, L., Handelsman, L., Foote, J., Lovejoy, M., Wenzel, K., ...
Ruggiero, J. (1994). Initial reliability and validity of a new retrospective measure of child abuse and neglect. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 151(8), 1132–1136.

- Bernstein, D. P., & Fink, L. (1998). Childhood Trauma Questionnaire: A retrospective self-report. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Bernstein, D. P., Stein, J. A., Newcomb, M. D., Walker, E., Pogge, D., Ahluvalia, T., ...
 Zule, W. (2003). Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *27*(2), 169–190. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Berzenski, S. R., & Yates, T. M. (2010). A developmental process analysis of the contribution of childhood emotional abuse to relationship violence. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment and Trauma, 19(2),* 180–203.
- Bradbury, L. L., & Shaffer, A. (2012). Emotion dysregulation mediates the link between childhood emotional maltreatment and young adult romantic relationship satisfaction. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 21*(5), 497–515. doi: 10.1080/10926771.2012.678466
- Brewer, N., Mitchell, P., & Weber, N. (2002). Gender role, organizational status, and conflict management styles. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 13(1), 78–94. doi: 10.1108/eb022868
- Buhrmester, D., Furman, W., Wittenberg, M. T., & Reis, H. T. (1988). Five domains of interpersonal competence in peer relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 55(6), 991.
- Bunford, N., Evans, S. W., & Wymbs, F. (2015). ADHD and Emotion Dysregulation Among Children and Adolescents. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 18(3), 185–217. doi: 10.1007/s10567-015-0187-5

- Carlson, E. B., Furby, L., Armstrong, J., & Schlaes, J. (1997). A conceptual framework for the long-term psychological effects of traumatic childhood abuse. *Child Maltreatment*, 2, 272-295.
- Cicchetti, D., & Olsen, K. (1990). The developmental psychopathology of child maltreatment. In M. Lewis & S. M. Miller (Eds.), *Handbook of developmental psychopathology* (pp. 261–279). New York: Plenum.
- Cicchetti, D., & Howes, P. W. (1991). Developmental psychopathology in the context of the family: Illustrations from the study of child maltreatment. *Canadian Journal of Behavioral Science*, 23, 257–281.
- Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. (1995). A developmental psychopathology perspective on child abuse and neglect. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 34(5), 541–565.
- Collins, W. A. (1990). Parent-child relationships in the transition to adolescence:
 Continuity and change in interaction, affect, and cognition. In R. Montemayor, G.
 Adams, & T. Gullotta (Eds.), *Advances in adolescent development* (Vol. 2. The transition from childhood to adolescence). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Collishaw, S., Pickles, A., Messer, J., Rutter, M., Shearer, C., & Maughan, B. (2007).
 Resilience to adult psychopathology following childhood maltreatment: Evidence from a community sample. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(3), 211–229. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.02.004
- Colman, R. A., & Widom, C. S. (2004). Childhood abuse and neglect and adult intimate relationships: a prospective study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 28(11), 1133–1151.
 doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2004.02.005

- Coroiu, A., Meyer, A., Gomez-Garibello, C. A., Brähler, E., Hessel, A., & Körner, A. (2015). Brief form of the Interpersonal Competence Questionnaire (ICQ-15):
 Development and preliminary validation with a German population sample. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 31(4), 272–279. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759/a000234
- Crawford, E., & Wright, M. O. (2007). The impact of childhood psychological maltreatment on interpersonal schemas and subsequent experiences of relationship aggression. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, 7(2), 93–116. doi: 10.1300/J135v07n02_06
- Crick, N. R., & Dodge, K. A. (1994). A review and reformulation of social informationprocessing mechanisms in children's social adjustment. *Psychological Bulletin*, *115*(1), 74–101.
- Dalal, D. K., & Zickar, M. J. (2012). Some common myths about centering predictor variables in moderated multiple regression and polynomial regression.
 Organizational Research Methods, *15*(3), 339–362. doi: 10.1177/1094428111430540
- Dodge, K. A. (1980). Social cognition and children's aggressive behavior. *Child* Development, 51(1) 162–170.
- Dovran, A., Winje, D., Øverland, S. N., Breivik, K., Arefjord, K., Dalsbø, A. S., ...
 Waage, L. (2013). Psychometric properties of the Norwegian version of the
 Childhood Trauma Questionnaire in high-risk groups. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 54(4), 286–291. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12052

- Downey, G., Bonica, C., & Rincón, C. (1999). Rejection sensitivity and adolescent romantic relationships. In W. Furman, B. Bradford Brown, & C. Feiring (Eds.), *The development of romantic relationships in adolescence* (pp. 148–174). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Downey, G., Lebolt, A., Rincón, C., & Freitas, A. L. (1998). Rejection sensitivity and children's interpersonal difficulties. *Child Development*, 69(4), 1074–1091.
- Downey, G., & Feldman, S. I. (1996). Implications of rejection sensitivity for intimate relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *70*(6), 1327.
- Downey, G., Feldman, S., & Ayduk, O. (2000). Rejection sensitivity and male violence in romantic relationships. *Personal Relationships*, 7(1), 45–61.
- Downey, G., Freitas, A., Michaelis, B., & Khouri, H. (1998). The self-fulfilling prophecy in close relationships: Rejection sensitivity and rejection by romantic partners. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 75, 545–560.
- Downey, G., Irwin, L., Ramsay, M., & Ayduk, O. (2004). Rejection sensitivity and girls' aggression. In M. M. Moretti, C. Odgers, & M. Jackson (Eds.), *Girls and Aggression* (pp. 7–25). Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4419-8985-7_2
- Dudeck, M., Vasic, N., Otte, S., Streb, J., Wingenfeld, K., Grabe, H. J., ... Spitzer, C. (2015). Factorial validity of the short form of the Childhood Trauma
 Questionnaire (CTQ–SF) in German psychiatric patients, inmates, and university students. *Psychological Reports*, *116*(3), 685–703. doi: 10.2466/16.03.PR0.116k27w5

- Dunn, E. C., McLaughlin, K. A., Slopen, N., Rosand, J., & Smoller, J. W. (2013).
 Developmental timing of child maltreatment and symptoms of depression and suicidal ideation in young adulthood: results from the national longitudinal study of adolescent health. *Depression and Anxiety*, *30*, 955–964. doi: 10.1002/da.22102
- Ehlers, A., & Clark, D. M. (2000). A cognitive model of posttraumatic stress disorder. Behaviour Research and Therapy, 38(4), 319–345.
- Erozkan, A. (2015). The childhood trauma and late adolescent rejection sensitivity. *Anthropologist*, *19*(2), 413–422.
- Feldman, S., & Downey, G. (1994). Rejection sensitivity as a mediator of the impact of childhood exposure to family violence on adult attachment behavior. *Development and Psychopathology*, 6, 231–247.
- Ferriter, C., Eberhart, N. K., & Hammen, C. L. (2010). Depressive symptoms and social functioning in peer relationships as predictors of eating pathology in the transition to adulthood. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 29, 202–227.
- Finkelhor, D., Turner, H. A., Ormond, R., & Hamby, S. L. (2013). Violence, crime, and abuse exposure in a national sample of children and youth: an update. *Journal of the American Medical Association Pediatrics*, 167(7), 614-621. doi: 10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2013.42
- Fritz, M. S., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2007). Required sample size to detect the mediated effect. *Psychological Science*, *18*(3), 233–239.

- Gerdner, A., & Allgulander, C. (2009). Psychometric properties of the Swedish version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire—Short Form (CTQ-SF). Nordic Journal of Psychiatry, 63(2), 160–170. doi: 10.1080/08039480802514366
- Gibb, B. E. (2002). Childhood maltreatment and negative cognitive styles: A quantitative and qualitative review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *22*(2), 223–246.

Giromini, L., de Campora, G., Brusadelli, E., D'Onofrio, E., Zennaro, A., Zavattini, G.
C., & Lang, M. (2016). Validity and reliability of the Interpersonal Competence
Questionnaire: Empirical evidence from an Italian study. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 38(1), 113–123. doi:
10.1007/s10862-015-9499-5

- Godbout, N., Lussier, Y., & Sabourin, S. (2006). Early abuse experiences and subsequent gender differences in couple adjustment. *Violence and Victims*, *21*(6), 744–760.
- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 26, 41-54.
- Gurman, A. S. (Ed.). (2008). *Clinical handbook of couple therapy* (4th ed). New York: Guilford Press.

Harris, P. A., Taylor, R., Thielke, R., Payne, J., Gonzalez, N., & Conde, J. G. (2009).
Research electronic data capture (REDCap) - A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 42(2), 377-81.

Hayes, A. F. (2015). An index and test of linear moderated mediation. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 50(1), 1–22. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2014.962683

- Heleniak, C., Jenness, J. L., Vander Stoep, A., McCauley, E., & McLaughlin, K. A.
 (2016). Childhood maltreatment exposure and disruptions in emotion regulation: A transdiagnostic pathway to adolescent internalizing and externalizing psychopathology. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 40(3), 394–415. doi: 10.1007/s10608-015-9735-z
- Hill, P. L., & Lapsey, D. K. (2011). Adaptive and maldaptive narcissism in adolescent development. In C. T. Barry, P. K. Kerig, K. K. Stellwagen, & T. D. Barry (Eds.), Narcissism and Machiavellianism in youth: Implications for the development of adaptive and maladaptive behavior. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Holmbeck, G. N., Devine, K. A., Wasserman, R., Schellinger, K., & Tuminello, E.
 (2012). Guides from developmental psychology for therapy with adolescents. In
 P. C. Kendall (Ed.), *Child and adolescent therapy. Cognitive-behavioral procedures* (4th ed., pp. 429-470). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Howell, K. H., & Miller-Graff, L. E. (2014). Protective factors associated with resilient functioning in young adulthood after childhood exposure to violence. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 38(12), 1985–1994. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.10.010
- Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6(1), 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118

- Kaplow, J. B., & Widom, C. S. (2007). Age of onset of child maltreatment predicts long-term mental health outcomes. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *116*(1), 176–187. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.116.1.176
- Keiley, M. K., Howe, T. R., Dodge, K. A., Bates, J. E., & Pettit, G. S. (2001). The timing of child physical maltreatment: A cross-domain growth analysis of impact on adolescent externalizing and internalizing problems. *Development and Psychopathology*, *13*(4), 891–912.
- Kim, J. E., & Cicchetti, D. (2010). Longitudinal pathways linking child maltreatment, emotion regulation, peer relations, and psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 51(6), 706–716. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02202.x
- Kim, D., Park, S.-C., Yang, H., & Oh, D. H. (2011). Reliability and Validity of the Korean Version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form for Psychiatric Outpatients. *Psychiatry Investigation*, 8(4), 305. doi: 10.4306/pi.2011.8.4.305
- Klostermann, K. C., & Fals-Stewart, W. (2006). Intimate partner violence and alcohol use: Exploring the role of drinking in partner violence and its implications for intervention. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 11(6), 587–597. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2005.08.008
- Larsen, C. D., Sandberg, J. G., Harper, J. M., & Bean, R. (2011). The effects of childhood abuse on relationship quality: Gender differences and clinical implications. *Family Relations*, 60(4), 435–445. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3729.2011.00661.x

- Lauren, B., Coy, K. C., & Collins, W. A. (1998). Reconsidering changes in parent-child conflict across adolescence: A meta-analysis. *Child Development*, 69, 817-832.
- Leeb, R. T., Paulozzi, L. J., Melanson, C., Simon, T. R., & Arias, I. (2008). Child maltreatment surveillance: Uniform definitions for public health and recommended data elements. Center for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control.
- MacCallum, R. C., Browne, M. W., & Sugawara, H. M. (1996). Power analysis and determination of sample size for covariance structure modeling. *Psychological Methods*, 1, 130e149.
- MacKinnon, D. P., Fairchild, A. J., & Fritz, M. S. (2007). Mediation Analysis. Annual Review of Psychology, 58(1), 593–614. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085542
- Manly, J. T., Kim, J. E., Rogosch, F. A., & Cicchetti, D. (2001). Dimensions of child maltreatment and children's adjustment: Contributions of developmental timing and subtype. *Development and Psychopathology*, 13(4), 759–782.
- McCloskey, L. A., & Stuewig, J. (2001). The quality of peer relationships among children exposed to family violence. *Development and Psychopathology*, 13(1), 83–96.
- Morris, A. S., Silk, J. S., Steinberg, L., Myers, S. S., & Robinson, L. R. (2007). The role of the family context in the development of emotion regulation. *Social Development*, 16(2), 361–388. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00389.x
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (2015). *MPlus: Statistical analysis with latent variables: User's guide*. Muthén & Muthén: Los Angeles.

Muralidharan, A., Sheets, E. S., Madsen, J., Craighead, L. W., & Craighead, W. E.
(2011). Interpersonal competence across domains: Relevance to personality
pathology. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 25, 16–27. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2011.
25.1.16

Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Watkins, E. R. (2011). A heuristic for developing transdiagnostic models of psychopathology: Explaining multifinality and divergent trajectories.
 Perspectives on Psychological Science, 6(6), 589–609. doi: 10.1177/1745691611419672

- Norman, R. E., Byambaa, M., De, R., Butchart, A., Scott, J., & Vos, T. (2012). The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect:
 A systematic review and meta-Analysis. *PLoS Medicine*, 9(11), e1001349. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001349
- Owens, G. P., & Chard, K. M. (2001). Cognitive distortions among women reporting childhood sexual abuse. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *16*(2), 178–191.
- Paivio, S. C., & Cramer, K. M. (2004). Factor structure and reliability of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire in a Canadian undergraduate student sample. *Child Abuse* & Neglect, 28(8), 889–904. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2004.01.011
- Parade, S. H., Leerkes, E. M., & Blankson, A. N. (2010). Attachment to parents, social anxiety, and close relationships of female students over the transition to college. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 39*, 127–137. doi: 10.1007/s10964-009-9396x

- Parker, J. G., & Herrera, C. (1996). Interpersonal processes in friendship: A comparison of abused and nonabused children's experiences. *Developmental Psychology*, 32(6), 1025-1038.
- Perry, A. R., Dilillo, D., & Peugh, J. (2007). Childhood psychological maltreatment and quality of marriage: The mediating role of psychological distress. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, 7(2), 117–142. doi: 10.1300/J135v07n02_07
- Pietrzak, J., Downey, G., & Ayduk, O. (2005). Rejection sensitivity as an interpersonal vulnerability. In M. W. Baldwin (Ed.), *Interpersonal cognition* (pp. 62–84). New York, NY: Guilford Publications, Inc.
- Purdie, V., & Downey, G. (2000). Rejection sensitivity and adolescent girls' vulnerability to relationship-centered difficulties. *Child Maltreatment*, 5(4), 338–349.
- Reinert, D. F., & Allen, J. P. (2007). The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: An update of research findings. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *31*(2), 185–199. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2006.00295.x
- Repetti, R. L., Taylor, S. E., & Seeman, T. E. (2002). Risky Families: Family Social Environments and the Mental and Physical Health of Offspring. *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*(2), 330–366. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.128.2.330
- Repic, T. (2007). Fear of intimacy among married and divorced persons in association with physical abuse in childhood. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 46(3–4), 49–62. doi: 10.1300/J087v46n03_04
- Riemann, R., & Allgöwer, A. (1993). A German version of the Interpersonal Competence Questionnaire (ICQ). Zeitschrift für Differentielle und Diagnostische Psychologie, 14, 153–163.

SAMHSA. (2014). National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH). Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-DetTabs2014/NSDUH-DetTabs2014.htm#tab6-88b

- Sar, V., Ozturk, E., & Ikikardes, E. (2012). Validity and reliability of the Turkish version of Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Turkiye Klinikleri Journal of Medical Science*, 32(4), 1054–63.
- Saunders, J. B., Aasland, O. G., Barbor, T. F., de la Fuente, J. R., & Grant, M. (1993).
 Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO
 Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol
 Consumption-II. *Addiction*, 88, 791–804.
- Scher, C. D., Stein, M. B., Asmundson, G. J. G., McCreary, D. R., & Forde, D. R. (2001).
 The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire in a Community Sample: Psychometric
 Properties and Normative Data. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *14*(4), 843–857.
- Schermelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H., & Müller, H. (2003). Evaluating the fit of structural equation models: Tests of significance and descriptive goodness-of-fit measures. *Methods of Psychological Research Online*, 8(2), 23–74.
- Semple, S. J., Patterson, T. L., Shaw, W. S., Grant, I., Moscona, S., & Jeste, D. V. (1999). Self-perceived interpersonal competence in older schizophrenia patients: The role of patient characteristics and psychosocial factors. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 100, 126–135. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1999.tb10833.x
- Shipman, K., Edwards, A., Brown, A., Swisher, L., & Jennings, E. (2005). Managing emotion in a maltreating context: A pilot study examining child neglect. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 29*, 1015–1029.

- Shipman, K. L., Schneider, R., Fitzgerald, M. M., Sims, C., Swisher, L., & Edwards, A. (2007). Maternal emotion socialization in maltreating and non-maltreating families: Implications for children's emotion regulation. *Social Development*, 16, 268–285.
- Smetana, J. (1988). Concepts of self and social convention: Adolescents' and parents' resoning about hypothetical and actual family conflicts. In M. Gunnar (Ed.), 21st Minnesota symposium on child psychology (pp. 77-122). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Spinhoven, P., Penninx, B. W., Hickendorff, M., van Hemert, A. M., Bernstein, D. P., & Elzinga, B. M. (2014). Childhood Trauma Questionnaire: Factor structure, measurement invariance, and validity across emotional disorders. *Psychological Assessment*, 26(3), 717–729. doi: 10.1037/pas0000002
- Steinberg, L. (2001). We know some things: Parent-adolescent relationships in retrospect and prospect. *Journal of Research on Adolescence, 11*(1), 1-19.
- Thombs, B. D., Bernstein, D. P., Lobbestael, J., & Arntz, A. (2009). A validation study of the Dutch Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form: Factor structure, reliability, and known-groups validity. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *33*(8), 518–523. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.03.001
- Thornberry, T. P., Ireland, T. O., & Smith, C. A. (2001). The importance of timing: The varying impact of childhood and adolescent maltreatment on multiple problem outcomes. *Development and Psychopathology*, *13*(4), 957–980.
- Tschan, F., Semmer, N. K., & Inversin, L. (2004). Work related and "private" social interactions at work. *Social Indicators Research*, 67, 145–182. doi: 10.2307/27522086

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. *Child Maltreatment 2012* [online]. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office; 2012. Available from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/cb/cm2012.pdf
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2018). *Child maltreatment 2016*. Available from https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/researchdata-technology/statistics-research/child-maltreatment
- van Ijzendoorn, M. H., Schuengel, C., & Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J. (1999).
 Disorganized attachment in early childhood: meta-analysis of precursors, concomitants, and sequelae. *Development and Psychopathology*, 11, 225–249.
- van Vugt, E., Lanctôt, N., Paquette, G., Collin-Vézina, D., & Lemieux, A. (2014). Girls in residential care: From child maltreatment to trauma-related symptoms in emerging adulthood. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 38(1), 114–122. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.10.015
- Vasilev, C. A., Crowell, S. E., Beauchaine, T. P., Mead, H. K., & Gatzke-Kopp, L. M. (2009). Correspondence between physiological and self-report measures of emotion dysregulation: A longitudinal investigation of youth with and without psychopathology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 50, 1357-1364.
- Wang, L. P., & Preacher, K. J. (2015). Moderated mediation analysis using Bayesian methods. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 22(2), 249– 263. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2014.935256

Watson, D., O'Hara, M. W., Simms, L. J., Kotov, R., Chmielewski, M., McDade-Montez, E. A., ... Stuart, S. (2007). Development and validation of the Inventory of Depression and Anxiety Symptoms (IDAS). *Psychological Assessment*, 19(3), 253–268. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.19.3.253

- Weinberg, A., & Klonsky, E. D. (2009). Measurement of emotion dysregulation in adolescents. *Psychological Assessment*, 21, 616-621.
- Wellman, H.M., & Liu, D. (2004). Scaling of theory of mind tasks. *Child Development*, 75, 523–541.
- Widom, C. S., Czaja, S. J., & DuMont, K. A. (2015). Intergenerational transmission of child abuse and neglect: Real or detection bias? *Science*, *347*(6229), 1480–1485. doi: 10.1126/science.1259917
- Wimmer, H., & Perner, J. (1983). Beliefs about beliefs: Representation and constraining function of wrong beliefs in young children's understanding of deception. *Cognition, 13*, 103–128.
- Wingenfeld, K., Spitzer, C., Mensebach, C., Grabe, H. J., Hill, A., Gast, U., ... Driessen,
 M. (2010). The German version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ):
 preliminary psychometric properties. *Psychotherapie Psychosomatik Medizinische Psychologie*, 60(11), 442–450. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1247564
- Wolfe, D. A., Wekerle, C., Reitzel-Jaffe, D., & Lefebvre, L. (1998). Factors associated with abusive relationships among maltreated and nonmaltreated youth. *Development and Psychopathology*, 10(1), 61–85.

- Young, B. J., & Furman, W. (2008). Interpersonal factors in the risk for sexual victimization and its recurrence during adolescence. *Journal of Youth* and Adolescence, 37, 297–309.
- Zurbriggen, E. L., Gobin, R. L., & Freyd, J. J. (2010). Childhood emotional abuse predicts late adolescent sexual aggression perpetration and victimization. *Journal* of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 19(2), 204–223. doi: 10.1080/10926770903539631

Appendix A: Recruitment Flyer

Ohio Athe	ter for Intervo o University ens, OH 457 77-724-4241		earch in Sch	ools					
	Child	lhood E	xperiend	ces and s Adult		unction	ing in Y	oung	
	√ Are √ Are	you bety you inte	ollege stu ween 18 t erested in g in a stu	to 24 yea 1 receivin			urse cree	dit for	
Т	f you answ	wered yes	to all of t	hese quest	ions, then	this stud	ly might b	oe for you	!
s	We are lool study which and relation be anonyme	h will incl nships with	ude questi	ons about o	childhood	experienc	es, current	t behavior	s,
	This online participati	•	sts 60 min	utes and y	ou will re	eceive 1 c	ourse crec	lit for	
I	OR	se call 1-8'	to know m 77-724-42 11@ohio.e	41 mention	-		periences	Study"	
Y	You can also	look for the	e study infor	rmation at <u>ht</u>	tp://psychpo	ool-ohio.sor	na-systems.c	com	
Childhood Experien 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.ed	Childhood Experier 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.ed	Childhood Experien 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.ed	Childhood Experien 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.ed	Childhood Experier 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.ed	Childhood Experier 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.ed	Childhood Experien 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.ed	Childhood Experien 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.ed	Childhood Experien 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.edu	Childhood Experien 1-877-724-4241 ap839211@ohio.ed

Study Name	Childhood Experiences and Social Functioning in Young Adulthood
Study Type	Web study. This is an online study. Participants are not given the
Study Type	study URL until after they sign up.
Eligibility	Must be 18-24 years old.
Requirements	
Duration	60 minutes
Credits	1 credit
Abstract	This study involves completing an online survey.
Description	Participating in this study will involve completing an online survey,
-	which will include questions about childhood experiences, current
	behaviors, and relationships with others during college years. All
	responses to the survey will be anonymous.
Participant	24 hours before the study is to occur
Sign-Up	
Deadline	

Appendix B: Psych Pool Description of the Study

Ohio University Online Consent Form

Title of Research: Childhood Experiences and Social Functioning in Young Adulthood Researcher: A. Raisa Ray, M.S. Advisor: Steven W. Evans, Ph.D.

You are being asked to participate in research. For you to be able to decide whether you want to participate in this project, you should understand what the project is about, as well as the possible risks and benefits in order to make an informed decision. This process is known as informed consent. This form describes the purpose, procedures, possible benefits, and risks. It also explains how your personal information will be used and protected. Once you have read this form and your questions about the study are answered, you will be asked to participate in this study. You may print a copy of this document to take with you.

Explanation of Study

This study is being done because the researchers are interested to learn more about the way in which experiences from childhood affect how college students engage in relationships during young adulthood.

If you agree to participate, you will be asked to complete an online study, which will include questions about childhood experiences, current behaviors, and relationships with others during college years. All responses to the survey will be anonymous.

You should not participate in this study if you are younger than 18 years of age or if you are older than 24 years of age.

Your participation in the study will last between 45 and 60 minutes.

Risks and Discomforts

The questionnaires pose no significant threat of harm to participants. However, the nature of some questions may produce emotional discomfort or distress. Some questions will pertain to possible experiences of child maltreatment. The Center for Disease Control defines child maltreatment as "any act or series of acts ... by a parent or other caregiver that results in harm, potential for harm, or threat of harm to a child." You may stop participating or withdraw from the study at any time. Additionally, at the end of the study, you will be provided with information about resources that you may access to receive confidential support for any distress that you may experience by participating in this study. You may also contact the researchers, if you have any questions or concerns about any information from the study, including this consent form.

Benefits

This study is important to science/society because it may provide important information about the way in which childhood experiences impact relationships in young adulthood. This information can be used by researchers to design treatment programs for individuals who may have social difficulties which are related to their childhood experiences.

Individually, you may benefit by experiencing participation in a Psychology study and by learning the different components of such studies, including the informed consent process and debriefing.

Confidentiality and Records

All information you provide will remain confidential. Your study information will be collected anonymously, your name will not in any way be linked to the information that you share. All data will be stored safely in a secure database with access limited to only members of the research team.

For maximum confidentiality, please clear your browser history and close the browser before leaving the computer. Information on how to delete your web browsing history can be found at: <u>http://www.computerhope.com/issues/ch000510.htm</u>

Compensation

As compensation for your time/effort, you will receive 1 course credit for your participation in this study.

Contact Information

If you have any questions regarding this study, please contact the investigator A. Raisa Ray, M.S., ap839211@ohio.edu, 1 (877) 724-4241 or the advisor Steven W. Evans, Ph.D., evanss3@ohio.edu, (740) 593-2186.

If you have any questions regarding your rights as a research participant, please contact Dr. Chris Hayhow, Director of Research Compliance, Ohio University, (740)593-0664 or hayhow@ohio.edu.

By agreeing to participate in this study, you are agreeing that:

- you have read this consent form (or it has been read to you) and have been given the opportunity to ask questions and have them answered;
- you have been informed of potential risks and they have been explained to your satisfaction;

- you understand Ohio University has no funds set aside for any injuries you might receive as a result of participating in this study;
- you are 18 years of age or older;
- your participation in this research is completely voluntary;
- you may leave the study at any time; if you decide to stop participating in the study, there will be no penalty to you and you will not lose any benefits to which you are otherwise entitled.

You may print this consent form for your records. To do this, right click on your mouse and select the Print option.

Please indicate whether you consent to participate in this study by pressing one of the two buttons below:

- □ I consent to participate in this study and I understand that some questions may be of a sensitive nature and produce emotional discomfort or distress.
- □ I do not consent to participate in this study

Version Date: 1/25/2017

Appendix D: Debriefing Form

Debriefing Form

Title of Research: Childhood Experiences and Social Functioning in Young Adulthood Researcher: A. Raisa Ray, M.S. Advisor: Steven W. Evans, Ph.D.

Thank you for your participation in this research project. This study was designed to investigate the way in which individuals with a diverse range of child maltreatment experiences show difficulties in their relationships during young adulthood. Researchers were specifically interested in understanding the role of emotions, thoughts about possible rejection from others, and the timing of child maltreatment in leading to social difficulties later in life. This study will help investigators and psychologists learn more about the way in which individuals who experience maltreatment in childhood develop difficulties in their relationships with others during their college years. This can provide information about how to best design treatments that can address such difficulties.

As a reminder, all of your survey responses will remain anonymous. Please clear your browser history after viewing this form. Information on how to delete your web browsing history can be found at: <u>http://www.computerhope.com/issues/ch000510.htm</u>

If you are concerned about any of the topics covered in this study, or if you would like more information or reading material on this topic, please contact one of the resources below:

Ohio University Counseling and Psychological Services:	(740) 593-1616
Ohio University Psychology and Social Work Clinic	(740) 593-0902
My Sister's Place Battered Women's Shelter	(740) 593-3402
Sexual Assault Survivor Advocacy Program	(740) 589-5562
OU Counselor-in-Residence	(740) 593-0769

It is not unusual for people to have questions after participating in a study such as the one that you just completed. If you have any questions about the study or concerns about any issues raised by your participation, and would like to contact the researchers directly, the following information contains their contact information:

Principal Investigator: A. Raisa Ray, M.S., <u>ap839211@ohio.edu</u>, 1 (877) 724-4241 Faculty Advisor: Steven W. Evans, Ph.D., <u>evanss3@ohio.edu</u>, (740) 593-2186 If you would like to receive more specific information about the study, please contact the researchers at the emails/phone numbers listed above. The researchers will gladly schedule a time to meet with you to provide you with more information.

You may print this debriefing form for your records. To do this, right click on your mouse and select the Print option.

Version Date: 1/25/2017

Appendix E: Demographics Questionnaire

Please answer the following questions as they apply to you:

1. What is your date of birth? _____

2. With what gender do you identify?

- □ Male
- □ Female
- □ Transgender
- □ Other, please specify: _____

3. With what ethnicity do you identify?

- □ Hispanic or Latino
- □ Not Hispanic or Latino

4. With what race do you identify?

- □ Black or African American
- □ Asian
- □ White or Caucasian
- □ Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander
- □ Native American or Alaskan Native
- □ Other, please specify

5. With what sexual orientation do you identify?

- □ Heterosexual (a.k.a. straight)
- □ Homosexual/Lesbian
- □ Bisexual
- Other, please specify: _____

6. What is your current relationship status?

- □ Single
- □ In a relationship, but not married
- □ Married or in a domestic partnership
- □ Divorced
- □ Other, please specify: _____

7. If you are in a relationship/married:

(a) For how long have you been in this relationship: _____(specify months/years)

(b) What is the gender of your romantic partner?

- □ Male
- □ Female
- □ Transgender
- □ Other, please specify: _____

8. Including any current relationship, how many romantic relationships have you had in your entire life?

9. What is your current student status?

- □ Freshman
- □ Sophomore
- □ Junior
- □ Senior

10. What is your current GPA? ______

11. What is your mother's education level (highest degree completed)?

- \Box Less than 9th grade
- □ Partial high school
- □ High school diploma
- □ Partial college (no degree)
- □ Associate degree
- □ Bachelor's degree
- □ Master's/Doctoral degree

12. What is your father's education level (highest degree completed)?

- \Box Less than 9th grade
- □ Partial high school
- □ High school diploma
- □ Partial college (no degree)
- □ Associate degree
- □ Bachelor's degree
- □ Master's/Doctoral degree

13. What was your family's household yearly income during the last fiscal year?

- □ Up to \$10,000
- □ \$10,001 \$14,999
- □ \$15,000 \$24,999
- □ \$25,000 \$49,999
- □ \$50,000 \$74,999
- □ \$75,000 \$99,999
- □ \$100,000 \$149,999
- □ \$150,000 \$199,999
- □ \$200,000 or more
- $\Box \qquad I \text{ don't know}$

Appendix F: Inventory of Depression and Anxiety Symptoms

IDAS

Below is a list of feelings, sensations, problems, and experiences that people sometimes have. Read each item to determine how well it describes your recent feelings and experiences. Then select the option that best describes <u>how much</u> you have felt or experienced things this way <u>during the past two weeks</u>, including today</u>. Use this scale when answering:

1 Not at all	2 A little bit	3 Moderately	4 Quite a bit	5 Extremely
1. I was p	broud of myself			
2. I felt e	•			
3. I felt d	epressed			
4. I felt in	nadequate			
5. I slept	less than usual			
	dgety, restless			
	houghts of suicide			
	more than usual			
9. I hurt 1	nyself purposely			
10. I slept				
1	ed myself for things			
	rouble falling asleep			
	iscouraged about this	ngs		
	tht about my own dea	e		
	tht about hurting mys			
	ot have much of an a			
	ke eating less than us			
	the a lot about food			
	ot feel much like eati	ing		
	hen I wasn't hungry	8		
	ore than usual			
23. I felt th	nat I had accomplishe	ed a lot		
	d forward to things v			
		5.5		
	opeful about the futu	ire		
	hat I had a lot to look			
	ke breaking things			
	isturbing thoughts of	f something bad that	happened to me	
	hings made me mad	6	11	
31. I felt e	-			

- _____32. I had nightmares that reminded me of something bad that happened
- _____ 33. I lost my temper and yelled at people
- _____ 34. I felt like I had a lot of interesting things to do
- _____ 35. I felt like I had a lot of energy
- _____ 36. I had memories of something scary that happened
- _____ 37. I felt self-conscious knowing that others were watching me
- _____ 38. I felt a pain in my chest
- _____ 39. I was worried about embarrassing myself socially
- _____ 40. I felt dizzy or light headed
- 41. I cut or burned myself on purpose
- 42. I had little interest in my usual hobbies or activities
- 43. I thought that the world would be better off without me
- 44. I felt much worse in the morning than later in the day
- _____ 45. I felt drowsy, sleepy
- _____ 46. I woke up early and could not get back to sleep
- _____ 47. I had trouble concentrating
- _____ 48. I had trouble making up my mind
- 49. I talked more slowly than usual
- _____ 50. I had trouble waking up in the morning
- _____ 51. I found myself worrying all the time
- _____ 52. I woke up frequently during the night
- _____ 53. It took a lot of effort for me to get going
- _____ 54. I woke up much earlier than usual
- _____ 55. I was trembling or shaking
- 56. I became anxious in a crowded public setting
- _____ 57. I felt faint
- 58. I found it difficult to make eye contact with people
- _____ 59. My heart was racing or pounding
- 60. I got upset thinking about something bad that happened
- 61. I found it difficult to talk with people I did not know well
- _____ 62. I had a very dry mouth
- _____ 63. I was short of breath
- _____ 64. I felt like I was choking

Appendix G: The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test

The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: Self-Report Version PATIENT: Because alcohol use can affect your health and can interfere with certain medications and treatments, it is important that we ask some questions about your use of alcohol. Your answers will remain confidential so please be honest. Place an X in one box that best describes your answer to each question. Questions 0 1 2 3 4 1. How often do you have Never Monthly 2-4 times 2-3 times 4 or more a drink containing alcohol? or less a month a week times a week 2. How many drinks containing 1 or 2 3 or 4 5 or 6 7 to 9 10 or more alcohol do you have on a typical day when you are drinking? 3. How often do you have six or Never Less than Monthly Weekly Daily or more drinks on one monthly almost occasion? daily 4. How often during the last Less than Daily or Never Monthly Weekly year have you found that you monthly almost were not able to stop drinking daily once you had started? 5. How often during the last Never Less than Monthly Weekly Daily or year have you failed to do monthly almost what was normally expected of daily you because of drinking? 6. How often during the last year Never Less than Monthly Weekly Daily or have you needed a first drink monthly almost in the morning to get yourself daily going after a heavy drinking session? 7. How often during the last year Less than Weekly Daily or Never Monthly have you had a feeling of guilt monthly almost or remorse after drinking? daily 8. How often during the last year Never Less than Monthly Weekly Daily or have you been unable to rememmonthly almost ber what happened the night daily before because of your drinking? 9. Have you or someone else No Yes, but Yes, been injured because of not in the during the your drinking? last year last year 10. Has a relative, friend, doctor, or No Yes, Yes, but other health care worker been during the not in the concerned about your drinking last year last year or suggested you cut down? Total

Appendix H: Childhood Trauma Questionnaire

The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire – A Retrospective Self-Report is an NCH Pearson, Inc. copyrighted measure. Permission from the publisher was obtained to adapt the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) for computer administration. Information about the CTQ materials is available at:

https://www.pearsonclinical.com/psychology/products/100000446/childhood-traumaquestionnaire-a-retrospective-self-report-ctq.html

Appendix I: Rejection Sensitivity Questionnaire

Each of the items below describes things college student imagine that you are in each situation. You will be asked	
 How <u>concerned or anxious</u> would you be about respond? 	t how the other person would
2) How do you think the other person would be	likely to respond?
1. You ask someone in class if you can borrow his/h	er notes.
How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to lend you his/her notes?	very unconcerned very concerned 1 2 3 4 5 6
I would expect that the person would willingly give me his/her notes.	very unlikely very likely 1 2 3 4 5 6
2. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to move in with	ı you.
How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to move in with you?	very unconcerned very concerned 1 2 3 4 5 6
I would expect that he/she would want to move in with me.	very unlikely very likely 1 2 3 4 5 6
3. You ask your parents for help in deciding what pa	rograms to apply to.
How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your parents would want to help you?	very unconcerned very concerned 1 2 3 4 5 6
I would expect that they would want to help me.	very unlikely very likely 1 2 3 4 5 6
4. You ask someone you don't know well out on a d	ate.
How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to go out with you?	very unconcerned very concerned 1 2 3 4 5 6
I would expect that the person would want to go out with me.	very unlikely very likely 1 2 3 4 5 6
5. Your boyfriend/girlfriend has plans to go out with spend the evening with him/her, and you tell him/her	
How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would decide to stay in?	very unconcerned very concerned 1 2 3 4 5 6
I would expect that the person would willingly choose to stay in.	very unlikely very likely 1 2 3 4 5 6
6. You ask your parents for extra money to cover li	ving expenses.
How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your parents would help you out?	very unconcerned very concerned 1 2 3 4 5 6
I would expect that my parents would not mind helping me out.	very unlikely very likely 1 2 3 4 5 6

	How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your professor would want to help you out?	very unconcerned 1 2	3	4		conce 6
	I would expect that my professor would want to help me out.	very unlikely 1 2	3	4	very 5	likely 6
8.) him/	You approach a close friend to talk after doing on her.	saying something	tha	t so	eriou	ısly u
	How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would want to talk with you?	very unconcerned 1 2	3	4		conce 6
	I would expect that he/she would want to talk with me to try to work things out.	very unlikely 1 2	3	4	very 5	likely 6
9. 1	You ask someone in one of your classes to coffee					
	How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to go?	very unconcerned 1 2	3	4	very 5	concer 6
	I would expect that the person would want to go with me.	very unlikely 1 2	3	4	very 5	likely 6
	How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your parents would want you to come home?	very unconcerned	3	4		conce 6
	I would expect I would be welcome at home.	very unlikely				
11.		very unlikely 1 2	3 k .	4		likely 6
11.		very unlikely 1 2		4	5 very	6
11.	You ask your friend to go on a vacation with you How concerned or anxious would you be over whether	very unlikely 1 2 1 over Spring Brea very unconcerned	k.		5 very 5	6 concer 6
12.	You ask your friend to go on a vacation with you How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would want to go with you?	very unlikely 1 2 2 over Spring Brea very unconcerned 1 2 very unlikely 1 2	k. 3	4	5 very 5 very 5	6 concer 6 likely 6
12.	You ask your friend to go on a vacation with you How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would want to go with you? I would expect that he/she would want to go with me. You call your boyfriend/girlfriend after a bitter a	very unlikely 1 2 2 over Spring Brea very unconcerned 1 2 very unlikely 1 2	k. 3	4	5 very 5 very 5 you very	6 concer 6 likely 6 want
12.	You ask your friend to go on a vacation with you How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would want to go with you? I would expect that he/she would want to go with me. You call your boyfriend/girlfriend after a bitter a him/her. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether	very unlikely 1 2 1 over Spring Brea very unconcerned 1 2 very unlikely 1 2 rgument and tell h very unconcerned	k. 3 3 im/l	4 4 her	5 very 5 very 5 you very 5	concer 6 likely 6 want concer
12. see	 You ask your friend to go on a vacation with you How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would want to go with you? I would expect that he/she would want to go with me. You call your boyfriend/girlfriend after a bitter a him/her. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to see you? 	very unlikely 1 over Spring Brea very unconcerned 1 2 very unlikely 1 2 rgument and tell h very unconcerned 1 2 very unlikely 1 2 very unlikely 1 2	k. 3 im/ 3	4 4 her 4	5 very 5 very 5 you very 5 very 5	6 concer 6 likely 6 want concer 6 likely
12. see	You ask your friend to go on a vacation with you How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would want to go with you? I would expect that he/she would want to go with me. You call your boyfriend/girlfriend after a bitter a him/her. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to see you? I would expect that he/she would want to see me.	very unlikely 1 over Spring Brea very unconcerned 1 2 very unlikely 1 2 rgument and tell h very unconcerned 1 2 very unlikely 1 2 very unlikely 1 2	k. 3 im/ 3	4 4 her 4	5 very 5 very 5 very 5 very 5	6 concer 6 likely 6 want concer 6 likely

How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your parents would want to come?very unconcerned 1very conc 2I would expect that my parents would want to come.very unlikely 12345615. You ask a friend to do you a big favor. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would do this favor?very unconcerned 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would asy yes?very unconcerned 12345616. You go to a party and notice someone on the other or not the person would want to dance with you?very unlikely 12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to dance with you?very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to dance with me.very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents.very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents.very unconcerned 1234<	or not your parents would want to come?123456I would expect that my parents would want to come.very unlikely 12345615. You ask a friend to do you a big favor.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would do this favor?very unconcerned 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.very unlikely 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.very unconcerned 12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other or not the person would want to dance with me.very unconcerned 12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other or not the person would want to dance with me.very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not the person would want to dance with me.very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or on your boyfriend/girlfriend you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend you be over whether or not wour boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to not your boyfriend/girlfriend you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to not your boyfriend/girlfriend you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your yuruncerered 12 <t< th=""><th>14.</th><th>You ask your parents to come to an occasion imp</th><th>5</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></t<>	14.	You ask your parents to come to an occasion imp	5				
112345615. You ask a friend to do you a big favor.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would do this favor?very unconcerned 123456I would expect that he/she would willingly do this favor for me.very unlikely 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?very unconcerned 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?very unconcerned 12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.very conc 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. Your parents? I would expect that he/she would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 123456	112345615. You ask a friend to do you a big favor.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would do this favor?very unconcerned 123456I would expect that he/she would willingly do this favor for me.very unlikely 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?very unconcerned 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?very unconcerned 12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.very conc 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with me.very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.very come 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents? J uvould expect that he/she would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 12345612345665666 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>3</td> <td>4</td> <td></td> <td></td>				3	4		
How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would do this favor?very unconcerned 1very conc 2I would expect that he/she would willingly do this favor for me.very unlikely 1very likel 1very likel 216. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would answer yes sincerely.very unconcerned 1very conc 212345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.very unconcerned 1very conc 212345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.very conc 1212345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.very unconcerned 1very unconcerned 1very conc 212345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.very conc 1234512345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 1very uconcerned 2very conc 2123456123456	How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your friend would do this favor?very unconcerned 1very conc 2I would expect that he/she would willingly do this favor for me.very unlikely 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would answer yes sincerely.very unconcerned 1very conc 2very conc12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other or not the person would want to dance with you?very unconcerned 1very conc 2very conc12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other or not the person would want to dance with you?very unconcerned 1very conc 212345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.very comc 2very unconcerned 1very comc 212345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.very comc 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 1very unconcerned 2very comc 2very unconcerned 2very comc 2123456619. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 2very unco		I would expect that my parents would want to come.		3	4		
or not your friend would do this favor?123456I would expect that he/she would willingly do this favor for me.very unlikely 112345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?very unconcerned 12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?very unlikely very unlikely 1very conc 219. Would expect that he/she would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 12345610. Would expect that he/she would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 12345610. Would expect that he/she would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 12345611. 23456612. 13456613. 14566161614. 1512345615. 16123456615. 16123 <td< td=""><td>or not your friend would do this favor?123456I would expect that he/she would willingly do this favor for me.very unlikely 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?very unconcerned 12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and them to dance.Very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Very unlikely 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents?Very unconcerned 12345619. You go to a party how concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with me.Very unconcerned 12345610. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Yery come 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?Yery unconcerned 12345610. You go to a party and notice someone home to meet your parents.Yery come 12345619. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Yery come 12345610. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your</td><td>15.</td><td>You ask a friend to do you a big favor.</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>	or not your friend would do this favor?123456I would expect that he/she would willingly do this favor for me.very unlikely 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?very unconcerned 12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and them to dance.Very unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Very unlikely 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents?Very unconcerned 12345619. You go to a party how concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with me.Very unconcerned 12345610. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Yery come 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?Yery unconcerned 12345610. You go to a party and notice someone home to meet your parents.Yery come 12345619. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Yery come 12345610. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your	15.	You ask a friend to do you a big favor.					
this favor for me.12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?very unconcerned 12345616. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?12345612345612345612345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.yery conc12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.yery conc12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Yery unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?yery unkley 1yery conc 212345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?yery unconcerned 12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?yery unkley yery unkley yery unkleyyery unkley yery likel123456	this favor for me.12345616.You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really loves you.How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes?very unconcerned 123456I would expect that he/she would answer yes sincerely.very unlikely 12345617.You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.very unconcerned 12345618.You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Very unconcerned 12345618.You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Very unconcerned 12345618.You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Very unconcerned 12345618.You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?Very unconcerned 12345618.You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?Very unconcerned 12345619.You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?Very unconcerned 12345619.You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your your parents?Very unlikely YVery unlikely YVery unlikely YVery Unconcerned Y				3	4		
How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes? very unconcerned 1 very conc 2 I would expect that he/she would answer yes sincerely. very unlikely 1 very likel 1 very likel 1 17. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance. very unconcerned 1 very conc 2 How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with you? very unconcerned 1 very conc 2 I would expect that he/she would want to dance with me. very unlikely 1 very likel 1 very conc 2 I would expect that he/she would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. very conc 1 very conc 2 How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents? very unconcerned 1 very conc 1 very conc 2 I would expect that he/she would want to meet my very unconcerned very unlikely very conc very conc	How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes? very unconcerned 1 very concerned 2 very unklely 1 very unklely 2 very like 1 I would expect that he/she would answer yes sincerely. very unlikely 1 very unlikely 2 very like 3 very like 4 very like 5 very concerned 6 17. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance. New concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with you? very unconcerned 1 very concerned 2 very concerned 1 very concerned 2 very concerned 2 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>3</td> <td>4</td> <td></td> <td></td>				3	4		
or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes? 1 2 3 4 5 6 I would expect that he/she would answer yes sincerely. very unlikely very unlikely very likel 1 2 3 4 5 6 17. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance. very unconcerned very conc How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with you? 1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. very unconcerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents. very unconcerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents. very unconcerned or anxious would you be over whether your parents. very unconcerned or anxious would you be over whether your parents. very unconcerned or anxious would you be over whether your parents. I would expect that he/she would want to meet my very unlikely very conc	or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would say yes? 1 2 3 4 5 6 I would expect that he/she would answer yes sincerely. very unlikely very unlikely very like 1 2 3 4 5 6 17. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance. very unconcerned very concorred How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with you? very unconcerned very concorred I would expect that he/she would want to dance with me. very unlikely very like 1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. very unconcerned very concorrened very concorrened very concorrened very concorrened very concorrened very unlikely very concorrent How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. very unconcerned very concorrened very unconcerned very concorrened very unconcerned very concorere 1 2	16.	You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend if he/she really	y loves you.				
12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.New concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with you?Very unconcerned 1Very conc 2I would expect that he/she would want to dance with me.Very unconcerned 1Very very likel 2Very unlikely 1Very likel 218. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.Very unconcerned 1Very conc 2Very very likel 2Very conc 212345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345612345<	12345617. You go to a party and notice someone on the other side of the room and then you them to dance.12345612345611234561234561123456123456112345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents.12345618. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 1234561234566156				3	4		
them to dance. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with you? very unconcerned very concerned I would expect that he/she would want to dance with me. very unlikely very likel 1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. very unconcerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet very unconcerned 1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet very unconcerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet very unconcerned 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 would expect that he/she would want to meet my very unlikely very unconcerned very unconcerned your parents.	them to dance. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not the person would want to dance with you? very unconcerned 1 2 3 4 5 6 I would expect that he/she would want to dance with me. very unlikely 1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents. very unconcerned 1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. very unconcerned 1 2 3 4 5 6 I would expect that he/she would want to meet my very unconcerned yery unconcerned your parents.		I would expect that he/she would answer yes sincerely.		3	4		
or not the person would want to dance with you? 1 2 3 4 5 6 I would expect that he/she would want to dance with me. very unlikely very likel 1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. Very unconcerned very conc How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet very unconcerned very conc your parents? 1 2 3 4 5 6	or not the person would want to dance with you? 1 2 3 4 5 6 I would expect that he/she would want to dance with me. very unlikely very like 1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet very unconcerned 1 2 3 4 5 6 I would expect that he/she would want to meet my very unconcerned very unconcerned your parents? very unconcerned your your your your your your your your			er side of the room	and	d tł	nen g	you
1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents? very unconcerned 1 2 3 4 5 6 I would expect that he/she would want to meet my very unlikely very unlikely very unlikely very likely	1 2 3 4 5 6 18. You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home to meet your parents. How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents? very unconcerned 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 would expect that he/she would want to meet my very unlikely very like				3	4		
How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet your parents?very unconcerned 1very conc 1I would expect that he/she would want to meet myvery unlikelyvery likely	How concerned or anxious would you be over whether or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meetvery unconcerned 1very conc 2I would expect that he/she would want to meet myvery unlikelyvery like		I would expect that he/she would want to dance with me.		3	4		
or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet 1 2 3 4 5 6 your parents? I would expect that he/she would want to meet my very unlikely very likely	or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet 1 2 3 4 5 6 your parents? I would expect that he/she would want to meet my very unlikely very like	18.	You ask your boyfriend/girlfriend to come home	to meet your pare	nts.			
			or not your boyfriend/girlfriend would want to meet		3	4		
					3	4		

Appendix J: Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale

1 almost never 0-10%)	2 sometimes (11-35%)	about half the time (36-65%)	4 most of the time (66-90%)	almost always (91-100%)
1) I an	m clear about my fee	lings.		
2) I pa	ay attention to how I	feel.		
3) I en	xperience my emotion	ns as overwhelming and ou	at of control.	
4) I h	ave no idea how I am	feeling.		
5) I h	ave difficulty making	sense out of my feelings.		
6) I an	m attentive to my fee	lings.		
7) I k	now exactly how I an	n feeling.		
8) I ca	are about what I am f	celing.		
9) I an	m confused about ho	w I feel.		
10) W	When I'm upset, I ack	nowledge my emotions.		
11) W	/hen I'm upset, I bece	ome angry with myself for	feeling that way.	
12) W	When I'm upset, I bece	ome embarrassed for feelin	ng that way.	
13) W	hen I'm upset, I hav	e difficulty getting work do	one.	
14) W	hen I'm upset, I bec	ome out of control.		
15) W	/hen I'm upset, I beli	eve that I will remain that	way for a long time.	
16) W	Vhen I'm upset, I beli	eve that I'll end up feeling	very depressed.	
17) W	/hen I'm upset, I beli	eve that my feelings are va	lid and important.	
18) W	Then I'm upset, I hav	e difficulty focusing on oth	her things.	
19) W	/hen I'm upset, I feel	out of control.		
20) W	/hen I'm upset, I can	still get things done.		
21) W	hen I'm upset, I feel	ashamed with myself for	feeling that way.	

1	2	3	44	5
almost never (0-10%)	sometimes (11-35%)	about half the time (36-65%)	most of the time (66-90%)	almost always (91-100%)
22) W	hen I'm upset, I kno	w that I can find a way to e	ventually feel better.	ir e
23) W	hen I'm upset, I feel	like I am weak.		
24) W	hen I'm upset, I feel	like I can remain in contro	l of my behaviors.	
25) W	hen I'm upset, I feel	guilty for feeling that way.		
26) W	hen I'm upset, I have	e difficulty concentrating.		
27) W	hen I'm upset, I have	e difficulty controlling my	behaviors.	
28) W	hen I'm upset, I beli	eve that there is nothing I c	an do to make myself f	eel better.
29) W	hen I'm upset, I becc	ome irritated with myself for	or feeling that way.	
30) W	hen I'm upset, I start	to feel very bad about my	self.	
31) W	hen I'm upset, I belie	eve that wallowing in it is a	all I can do.	
32) W	hen I'm upset, I lose	control over my behaviors		
33) W	hen I'm upset, I have	e difficulty thinking about a	anything else.	
34) W	hen I'm upset, I take	time to figure out what I'n	n really feeling.	
35) W	hen I'm upset, it take	es me a long time to feel be	tter.	
36) W	hen I'm upset, my er	notions feel overwhelming		

Appendix K: Interpersonal Competence Questionnaire

The items from the Interpersonal Competence Questionnaire are available in the journal article noted below. For the purpose of this study, only the conflict management subscale was used.

Buhrmester, D., Furman, W., Wittenberg, M. T., & Reis, H. T. (1988). Five domains of interpersonal competence in peer relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 55(6), 991.



Thesis and Dissertation Services